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The directors present their report, together with the consolidated financial statements, on the consolidated entity 
(referred to hereafter as the “consolidated entity”) consisting of Rumbalara Aboriginal Co-Operative Ltd (referred to 
hereafter as the “parent entity”) and the entity it controlled being Rumbalara Housing Limited (referred to hereafter 
as the “subsidiary”) at the end of, or during, the year ended 30 June 2024. 

Directors 

The following persons were directors of the parent entity and subsidiary during the whole of the financial year and up 
to the date of this report, unless otherwise stated: 

Rumbalara Aboriginal Co-Operative Ltd 

Marie Barbance 
Eric Egan 
Pamela Pederson 
Joanne Atkinson (Appointed 15 February 2024) 
Neville Atkinson (Appointed 15 February 2024) 
Suzanne Nelson (Appointed 18 January 2024. Resigned 15 February 2024. Re-appointed 19 June 2024) 
Gregory James (Resigned 16 February 2024) 
Cindy McGee (Resigned 14 January 2024) 
Graham Briggs (Appointed 15 February 2024. Resigned 18 June 2024) 

Rumbalara Housing Ltd  

Eric Egan 
Marie Barbance 
Edel Conroy (Appointed 20 March 2024) 
Gregory James (Resigned 16 February 2024) 

Review of operations 

The deficit of the consolidated entity after providing for income tax amounted to $784,677 (2023: deficit $116,581) 
and after taking into consideration other comprehensive income, this increased to a total comprehensive profit of 
$17,846,230 (2023: comprehensive loss of $116,581). 

Principal activities 

The principal activity of the consolidated entity during the financial year was the provision of health, wellbeing and 
social services to members of the Aboriginal Community in the Goulburn Valley Region. 

No significant changes in the nature of the consolidated entity’s activities occurred during the financial year. 

Significant changes in the state of affairs 

On 12 July 2023 Rumbalara Housing Limited (“RHL”) was established as a company limited by guarantee. 
Rumbalara Aboriginal Co-Operative Ltd is the sole member of the company. As a result, from date of incorporation 
of the subsidiary, the consolidated entity is required to prepare consolidated financial statements. Management also 
prepare stand-alone financial statements for both the parent entity and the subsidiary.  

There were no other significant changes in the state of affairs of the consolidated entity during the financial year. 

Matters subsequent to the end of the financial year 

No matter or circumstance has arisen since 30 June 2024 that has significantly affected, or may significantly affect 
the consolidated entity's operations, the results of those operations, or the consolidated entity's state of affairs in 
future financial years. 

Likely developments and expected results of operations 

Information on likely developments in the operations of the consolidated entity and the expected results of operations 
have not been included in this report because the directors believe it would be likely to result in unreasonable 
prejudice to the consolidated entity. 

 



RUMBALARA ABORIGINAL CO-OPERATIVE LTD AND THE ENTITY IT CONTROLLED  

ABN 84 530 647 942 

Directors’ Report 
For the year ended 30 June 2024 

2 

Environmental regulation 

The consolidated entity is not subject to any significant environmental regulation under Australian Commonwealth or 
State law. 

Dividends 

No dividends were paid or declared during the financial year (2023: Nil). 

Shares and contributions on winding up 

The parent entity is registered as a co-operative without shares under the Co-operatives National Law (Vic).  

As such there are no member guarantees, no shares under option, and no ordinary shares of the parent entity issued 
on the exercise of options.  

The subsidiary is registered as a company limited by guarantee without shares under the Corporations Act 2001. As 
such there is a member guarantee which relates to the parent entity as sole member.  

Information on directors 

Marie Barbance Chairperson 
Qualifications Certified OHS Practitioner; Diploma in OHS; Cert IV in OHS; Cert IV in Training and Assessment 
Experience and expertise 28+ years in the Health Industry Nursing and Educator/ facilitation; 4 years Rumbalara Aboriginal 

Co-operative; Currently employed by City of Greater Shepparton Director Aboriginal 
Advancement League, 3 years; Director of the Torch Programme, and Currently on Rumbalara 
Board of Directors since October 2020. 

Special responsibilities Deputy Chairperson RHL, Chairperson Clinical Governance Committee 
  
Eric Egan Board Member 
Experience and expertise Hume Region Department of Justice, 3 years; Employed at MADEC, 6 years; Currently 

employed by Vic. Police; Dhelk Dja (previously IFVRAG), 8 years; Campaspe Shire Youth 
Services Network Committee, 6 years; Marrung Wurreker (Education), 5 years; Aboriginal 
Workforce Development Strategy Group (Employment) 3.6 years; GOTAFE Aboriginal 
Community Advisory Committee; Previously a Hume RAJAC and Shepparton LAJAC member. 

Special responsibilities Chairperson RHL 
  
Pamela Pederson Board Member 
Experience and expertise Currently sitting on various courts in Melbourne and Shepparton, held these positions since 2005 

(Melbourne Magistrates, Lorrie Court, County Koorie Court, Melbourne and Heidelberg 
Children’s Koorie Court, Shepparton County Koorie Court, Shepparton magistrates Koorie Court, 
Shepparton Children’s Koorie Court; Member of the Adult Parole Board. 

  
Joanne Atkinson Deputy Chairperson 

Qualifications Bachelor of Education; Diploma of Education; Diploma of Management; Certificate IV Train the 
Trainer; Diploma of Life Coaching 

Experience and expertise Currently Manager, Manager Koori Courts, Courts Services Victoria, held these positions since 
1997 (Close the Health Gap Executive Officer, Victorian Aboriginal Health Service, HR & 
Operations Manager/Acting CEO - Aboriginal Housing Victoria, Tenancy Manager, Aboriginal 
Housing Victoria, Executive Officer, Hume Regional Aboriginal Justice Advisory Committee 
(RAJAC) – Dept. of Justice, Indigenous Facilitator Council of Australian Government (COAG) 
Department of Aboriginal Affairs  Victoria (12-month secondment from Department of Justice to 
implement this initiative); Aboriginal Housing Services Officer - Department of Human Services. 

Special responsibilities Chairperson – Finance, Risk and Audit Committee 
  
Neville Atkinson Board Member 
Experience and expertise Marketing and Research – Peat Marwick, Cultural Heritage Legislation Act Regulations, 

Management Planning, Victorian Aboriginal Legal Services, Para legal Training Qualifications, 
Victorian Aboriginal Deaths in Custody Research and Investigation tam, Business Development 
Management, Governance Training, Financial management, Establishing Horticultural/ 
Agricultural Businesses. 

Special responsibilities Board Member RHL 
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Information on directors (cont.) 

Suzanne Nelson  Board Member 
Qualifications Certificate of Completion DRUMBEAT Facilitator Training, CRAF Training, Cognitive Behavioral 

Therapy Training, Ice: Training for Frontline Workers 6 Modules, 1st Aid Certificate, Diploma of 
Community Services, Mental Health First Aid Instructor, Certificate III, Community Services Work 

Experience and expertise Enrolled Nurse, Alcohol and other Drugs Therapeutic Clinician, Aboriginal Hospital Liaison 
Officer, Outreach Worker, Grief and Trauma Counsellor & AOD Support Worker, Family Support   
Worker, Family Aid Unit Coordinator. 

  
Gregory James Chairperson  
Qualifications Diploma of Teaching, Diploma of Teaching Technology, Councillor with City of Greater 

Shepparton, Builder, Justic of the Peace 
Experience and expertise Board of Director 5 years at Rumbalara, Councillor with City of Greater Shepparton 3 years. 
Special responsibilities Chairperson, Clinical Governance Committee 
  
Cindy McGee Board Member 

Qualifications Certificate IV in Health, AOD & MH, Advanced Diploma in Leadership & Human Resources, 
Bachelor Degree in Business and Graduate Certificate in Management 

Experience and expertise Over 20 years’ experience in Leadership & Management, 10 years as a nurse and over 8 years 
in Social Welfare; Previously employed at Rumbalara for 7.5 years in areas of Social Emotional 
Wellbeing, Justice & Community Services, Empowering Woman and Children, Strategy & Policy, 
and special projects. Previously employed at BDAC as Director of Community Health and 
Wellbeing, and Executive Director of Program Delivery. Currently Director of Program Delivery. 
Currently Director of Health and Aged Care – Njernda. Currently board member of Bangarang 
Aboriginal Corporation.  

Special responsibilities Chairperson – Finance, Risk and Audit Committee 
  
Graham Briggs Board Member 
Qualifications Advanced Diploma of Government, Diploma of Development, Diploma of Management 
Experience and expertise Program Manager Juvenile Justice Program – KEE, Aboriginal Liaison Officer – GVH, Aboriginal 

Educator – Mooroopna, Secondary College, Regional Co-ordinator of the Indigenous FV 
Strategy Hume Region – DHS, Statewide Co-ordinator of Aboriginal victims of crime team – 
Dept. Justice, Kinship Care Program Manager/ Senior Cultural Officer - Aboriginal Childcare 
Agency, Regional Co-ordinator of the Indig. FV Strategy – DFFH, ASHE, Executive Manager 
Justice Services - Rumbalara Aboriginal Co-operative, Indigenous Project Co-ordinator – Winton 
Wetlands, Mokoan Project, Advanced Case Manager – Community Safety/ Corrections – Dept. 
of Justice, Established Aldara Yenara – Managing Director, Programme skilled rail v/ line hand 
signaller, Koori Engagement major projects – Wyndham & Bendigo Law Courts. 

Cooperative and Company Secretary 

Edel Conroy has held the role of the parent entity secretary since 29 July 2019. Edel is also secretary, public officer 
and Director of the subsidiary since inception.  

Edel Conroy Cooperative and Company Secretary 
Qualifications Bachelor of Commerce; Member of the Australian Institute of Company Directors 
Experience and expertise Highly skilled, experienced finance, risk and governance executive with over 25 years’ 

experience across the private, public and NFP sectors. Edel has held various senior executive 
positions as well as positions on various Boards as Director and extensive experience as 
Company Secretary.  
Consulting on Governance, Risk and Change Management, a Director of First Nations Health, 
Myanmar Atlantic Pearling Co., and Touchtile Pty Ltd. 

Special responsibilities Finance, Risk and Audit Committee 
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Meetings of directors 

The number of meetings of the parent entity Board of Directors ('the Board') held during the year ended 30 June 
2024, and the number of meetings attended by each director were: 

 Board Meetings 
 Eligible Attended 
Marie Barbance 8 8 
Eric Egan 8 6 
Pamela Pederson 8 5 
Joanne Atkinson 3 3 
Neville Atkinson 3 2 
Suzanne Nelson 1 1 
Gregory James 5 5 
Cindy McGee 4 4 
Graham Briggs 2 2 

The number of meetings of the subsidiary’s Board of Directors ('the Board') held during the period ended 30 June 
2024, and the number of meetings attended by each director were: 

 Board Meetings 
 Eligible Attended 
Eric Egan 4 4 
Marie Barbance 4 4 
Edel Conroy 3 3 
Gregory James 1 1 

Indemnity and insurance of officers 

The consolidated entity has indemnified the directors and executives for costs incurred, in their capacity as a director 
or executive, for which they may be held personally liable, except where there is a lack of good faith. 

During the financial year, the consolidated entity paid a premium in respect of a contract to insure the directors and 
executives of the consolidated entity against a liability to the extent permitted by the Co-operatives National Law (Vic) 
and the ACNC Act. The contract of insurance prohibits disclosure of the nature of the liability and the amount of the 
premium. 

Indemnity and insurance of auditor 

The consolidated entity has not, during or since the end of the financial year, indemnified or agreed to indemnify the 
auditor of the consolidated entity or any related entity against a liability incurred by the auditor. 

During the financial year, the consolidated entity has not paid a premium in respect of a contract to insure the auditor 
of the consolidated entity or any related entity. 

Proceedings on behalf of the consolidated entity 

No person has applied to the Court under the Co-operatives National Law (Vic) for leave to bring proceedings on 
behalf of the consolidated entity, or to intervene in any proceedings to which the consolidated entity is a party for the 
purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the consolidated entity for all or part of those proceedings. 
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Auditor’s independence declaration 

A copy of the auditor's independence declaration as required under Section 283 of Co-operatives National Law 
Application Act 2013 (Victoria) and Section 60-40 of the Australian Charities and Not for Profits Commission Act 2012 
is set out immediately after this directors' report. 

This report is made in accordance with a resolution of directors. 

On behalf of the directors 

Marie Barbance  Eric Egan 
Chairperson  Board member 

Dated this      day of November 2024 7th



 
 

 

 

RSM Australia Partners is a member of the RSM network and trades as RSM.  RSM is the trading name used by the 
members of the RSM network.  Each member of the RSM network is an independent accounting and consulting firm 
which practices in its own right.  The RSM network is not itself a separate legal entity in any jurisdiction. 
RSM Australia Partners ABN 36 965 185 036 
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation 
 
 

 

RSM Australia Partners 

12 Anderson Street West, Ballarat VIC 3350 
PO Box 685 Ballarat VIC 3353 

T +61 (0) 3 5330 5800 
F +61 (0) 3 5330 5890 

www.rsm.com.au 

AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION 
 

 

 

 

As lead auditor for the audit of the consolidated financial report of Rumbalara Aboriginal Co-operative Limited and 
its subsidiary for the year ended 30 June 2024, I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have 
been no contraventions of: 

(i) the auditor independence requirements of the Co-operatives National Law Application Act 2013 and Division 60 
of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 in relation to the audit; and 

(ii) any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 

 

 
RSM AUSTRALIA PARTNERS 

 
JOHN FINDLAY 
Partner 

Ballarat, Victoria 
Dated this 7th day of November 2024 
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  Consolidated 
 Note 2024  2023 
  $  $ 
Core operations 2.1 38,300,142  31,965,879 
Other revenue 2.2 1,204,057  980,918 
Other income 2.3 1,247,517  439,097 
     
Employee benefits expense 3.1 (27,545,465)  (21,817,938) 
Operating expenses 3.2 (12,273,341)  (9,989,591) 
Finance costs 3.3 (57,465)  (55,932) 
Depreciation and amortisation 4.3 (1,638,488)  (1,676,816) 
(Deficit)/Surplus on disposal of property, plant and equipment  (21,634)  37,802 
(Deficit) before income tax expense  (784,677)  (116,581) 
Income tax expense  -  - 
(Deficit) after income tax expense  (784,677)  (116,581) 
     
Other comprehensive income:     
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss     
Gain on revaluation of property, plant and equipment, net of tax  18,630,907  - 
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax  18,630,907  - 
     
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR  17,846,230  (116,581) 
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  Consolidated 
 Note 2024  2023 
  $  $ 
ASSETS     
Current Assets     
Cash and cash equivalents 6.1 1,628,453  13,024,807 
Trade and other receivables 5.1 931,012  1,577,314 
Financial assets 4.4 22,290,594  14,263,521 
Other assets 5.2 30,403  40,270 
Total Current Assets  24,880,462  28,905,912 
     
Non-Current Assets     
Property, plant and equipment 4.1 46,240,477  25,919,427 
Right-of-use assets 4.2 1,189,354  1,117,317 
Intangible assets 4.5 163,518  - 
Total Non-Current Assets  47,593,349  27,036,744 
TOTAL ASSETS  72,476,811  55,942,656 
     
LIABILITIES     
Current Liabilities     
Trade and other payables 5.3 3,013,399  2,517,218 
Employee benefits 3.4 2,353,040  2,165,138 
Contract liabilities 5.4 19,380,623  21,525,945 
Lease liabilities 6.2 489,494  496,813 
Total Current Liabilities  25,236,556  26,705,114 
     
Non-Current Liabilities     
Employee benefits 3.4 435,651  368,733 
Lease liabilities 6.2 754,504  667,939 
Total Non-Current Liabilities  1,190,155  1,036,672 
TOTAL LIABILITIES  26,426,711  27,741,786 
     
NET ASSETS  46,047,100  28,200,870 
     
EQUITY     
Reserves 8.1 24,661,218  6,030,311 
Retained earnings  21,385,882  22,170,559 
TOTAL EQUITY  46,047,100  28,200,870 
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 Retained 
earnings 

Asset 
revaluation 

reserve 

Community 
support 

fund Total 
 $ $ $ $ 
2024     
Balance at 1 July 2023 22,170,559 5,030,311 1,000,000 28,200,870 
Deficit after income tax expense for the year (784,677) - - (784,677) 
Other comprehensive income, net of tax - 18,630,907  18,630,907 
Balance at 30 June 2024 21,385,882 23,661,218 1,000,000 46,047,100 
     
2023     
Balance at 1 July 2022  22,287,140 5,030,311 1,000,000 28,317,451 
Deficit after income tax expense for the year (116,581) - - (116,581) 
Balance at 30 June 2023 22,170,559 5,030,311 1,000,000 28,200,870 
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  Consolidated 
 Note 2024  2023 
  $  $ 
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES     
Receipts from grants and clients (including GST)  41,600,791  40,813,816 
Payments to suppliers and employees (including GST)  (41,789,416)  (35,022,761) 
Interest received  542,340  40,563 
Interest paid  (57,465)  (55,932) 
Net cash provided by operating activities  296,250  5,775,686 
     
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES     
Investment in term deposits  (8,027,073)  (10,745,453) 
Purchase of intangible assets  (93,983)  - 
Purchase of property plant and equipment  (2,982,844)  (1,881,778) 
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment   15,937  44,837 
Net cash used in investing activities  (11,087,963)  (12,582,394) 
     
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES     
Repayment of lease liabilities  (604,641)  (584,953) 
Net cash used in financing activities  (604,641)  (584,953) 
     
Net (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents held  (11,396,354)  (7,391,661) 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of financial year  13,024,807  20,416,468 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of financial year 6.1 1,628,453  13,024,807 
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Note 1 Summary of Material Accounting Policies 

The consolidated financial statements cover Rumbalara Aboriginal Co-Operative Ltd and the entity it controlled 
(referred to hereafter as the “consolidated entity”) consisting of Rumbalara Aboriginal Co-Operative Ltd (referred to 
hereafter as the “parent entity”) and the entity it controlled being Rumbalara Housing Limited (referred to hereafter 
as the “subsidiary”) at the end of, or during, the year. 

The parent entity is a co-operative, and the subsidiary is a company limited by guarantee which are both incorporated 
and domiciled in Australia. 

The accounting policies that are material to the consolidated entity are set out below. The accounting policies adopted 
are consistent with those of the previous financial year, unless otherwise stated. When required by Accounting 
Standards, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to changes in presentation for the current financial 
year. 

New or amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations adopted 

The consolidated entity has adopted all of the new or amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by 
the Australian Accounting Standards Board ('AASB') that are mandatory for the current reporting period. 

Any new or amended Accounting Standards or Interpretations that are not yet mandatory have not been early 
adopted. 

Basis of preparation 

These general-purpose consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Australian 
Accounting Standards – Simplified Disclosures issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board ('AASB'), the 
Co-operatives National Law Application Act 2013 and the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 
2012, as appropriate for not-for-profit oriented entities.  

The consolidated financial statements, except for the cash flow information, have been prepared on an accruals basis 
and are based on historical costs, modified, where applicable, by the measurement at fair value, of selected non-
current assets, financial assets and financial liabilities.  

The amounts presented in the consolidated financial statements have been rounded to the nearest dollar and the 
functional and presentation currency of the consolidated entity is Australian dollars.  

The consolidated financial statements have also been prepared on a going concern basis. 

Critical accounting estimates 

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It 
also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the consolidated entity's accounting 
policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates 
are significant to the consolidated financial statements, are disclosed in the relevant notes. 

a) Consolidated entity details 

The registered office and principal place of business are: 

Registered office    Principal place of business  

PO Box 614     20 Rumbalara Road 
Mooroopna Vic 3629   Mooroopna Vic 3629  

b) Income tax 

The consolidated entity is exempt from income tax under Division 50 of the Income Tax Assessment Act 1997. 

c) Economic dependence 

The consolidated entity is dependent on the Victorian State Government and Australian Federal Government for 
the majority of its revenue. At the date of this report, the directors have no reason to believe the Victorian State 
Government and Australian Federal Government will not continue to support the consolidated entity. 
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Note 1 Summary of Material Accounting Policies (cont.) 

d) Goods and services tax (GST) 

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the amount of GST 
incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office (ATO). In these circumstances, the GST is 
recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of an item of expense. 

Receivables and payables in the consolidated statement of financial position are shown inclusive of GST. 

Cash flows are presented in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis, except for the GST components of 
investing and financing activities, which are disclosed as operating cash flows. 

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the 
ATO. 

e) Current and non-current classification 

Assets and liabilities are presented in the statement of financial position based on current and non-current 
classification. 

An asset is classified as current when: it is either expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in 
the consolidated entity’s normal operating cycle; it is held primarily for the purpose of trading; it is expected to be 
realised within 12 months after the reporting period; or the asset is cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from 
being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period. All other assets are 
classified as non-current. 

A liability is classified as current when: it is either expected to be settled in the consolidated entity’s normal 
operating cycle; it is held primarily for the purpose of trading; it is due to be settled within 12 months after the 
reporting period; or there is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after 
the reporting period. All other liabilities are classified as non-current. 

f) Parent entity information 

In accordance with the requirements of AASB 10 Consolidated Financial Statements, these consolidated financial 
statements present the results of the consolidated entity only. Supplementary information about the parent entity 
is disclosed in note 8.5. 

g) Principles of consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary of Rumbalara 
Aboriginal Co-Operative Ltd (“parent entity”) as at 30 June 2024 and the results of the subsidiary for the year then 
ended. Rumbalara Aboriginal Co-Operative Ltd and the entity it controlled together are referred to in these 
consolidated financial statements as the “consolidated entity”. 

Subsidiaries are all those entities over which the consolidated entity has control. The consolidated entity controls 
an entity when the consolidated entity is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with 
the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power to direct the activities of the entity. 
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the consolidated entity. They 
are de-consolidated from the date that control ceases. 

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between entities in the consolidated 
entity are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of the 
impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to 
ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the consolidated entity. 

The acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting. A change in ownership 
interest, without the loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction, where the difference between the 
consideration transferred and the book value of the share of the non-controlling interest acquired is recognised 
directly in equity attributable to the parent. 
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Note 1 Summary of Material Accounting Policies (cont.) 

g) Principles of consolidation (cont.) 

Non-controlling interest in the results and equity of subsidiaries are shown separately in the statement of profit or 
loss and other comprehensive income, statement of financial position and statement of changes in equity of the 
consolidated entity. Losses incurred by the consolidated entity are attributed to the non-controlling interest in full, 
even if that results in a deficit balance. 

Where the consolidated entity loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the assets including goodwill, 
liabilities and non-controlling interest in the subsidiary together with any cumulative translation differences 
recognised in equity. The consolidated entity recognises the fair value of the consideration received and the fair 
value of any investment retained together with any gain or loss in profit or loss.
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Note 2 Funding Delivery of Our Services 

The principal activity of the consolidated entity during the financial year was the provision of health, wellbeing and 
social services to members of the Aboriginal Community in the Goulburn Valley Region.  

2.1: Core operations 
2.2: Other revenue 
2.3: Other income 

  Consolidated 
  2024  2023 
  $  $ 
Note 2.1: Core operations     
State/federal government grants (AASB 15)  32,617,733  26,470,756 
State/federal government grants (AASB 1058)  3,929,893  3,282,017 
State/federal government grants (AASB 1058 – Capital)  1,034,302  903,447 
Other government grants  34,109  266,037 
Aged care revenue  534,406  474,049 
Rental income  546,729  569,573 
Total core operations  38,300,142  31,965,879 
     
Note 2.2: Other revenue      
Medical revenue  1,174,226  772,223 
NDIS revenue  29,831  208,695 
Total other revenue  1,204,057  980,918 
Total revenue  39,504,199  32,946,797 
     
Note 2.3: Other income     
Donations  6,970  5,000 
Other income  310,046  150,279 
Interest income  930,501  283,818 
Total other income  1,247,517  439,097 
Total revenue and other income  40,751,716  33,385,894 
     
Disaggregation of revenue     
The disaggregation of revenue is as follows:     
     
Geographical regions     
Australia  34,937,074  28,761,333 
     
Timing of revenue recognition     
Over time  33,733,017  27,780,415 
At a point in time  1,204,057  980,918 
Total  34,937,074  28,761,333 
     

Revenue recognition 

All revenue is stated net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST). 
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Note 2 Funding Delivery of Our Services (cont.)  

Revenue from contracts with customers 

Revenue is recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the consolidated entity is expected to 
be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or services to a client in accordance with AASB 15.  

For each contract with a customer, the consolidated entity: 

1. identifies the contract with our clients; 

2. identifies the performance obligations in the contract; 

3. determines the transaction price which takes into account estimates of variable consideration and the time value 
of money; 

4. allocates the transaction price to the separate performance obligations on the basis of the relative stand-alone 
selling price of each distinct good or service to be delivered; and 

5. recognises revenue when or as each performance obligation is satisfied in a manner that depicts the transfer to 
the client of the goods or services promised. 

Grants 

Grant revenue is recognised when the consolidated entity satisfies the performance obligations stated within the 
funding agreements and this is recognised as revenue in accordance with AASB 15.  

If conditions are attached to the grant which must be satisfied before the consolidated entity is eligible to retain the 
contribution, the grant will be recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position as a contract liability until 
those conditions are satisfied. 

Where no specific performance obligations are identified in the grant agreement income is recognised on receipt in 
accordance with AASB 1058. 

Service revenue 

Service revenue for medical clinics, aged care and NDIS is recognised once the consolidated entity satisfies the 
performance obligations and this is recognised as revenue in accordance with AASB 15. Revenue is recognised at 
a point in time which is after the requested service has been provided to our clients.  

Interest  

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest rate method, which for floating rate financial assets is the 
rate inherent in the instrument. 

Rental income 

Rental revenue is recognised over the period of the lease term as invoiced by the consolidated entity’s property 
managers.  

Donations 

Donations and bequests are recognised as revenue when received. 

Volunteer services 

The consolidated entity has elected not to recognise volunteer services as either revenue or other form of contribution 
received. As such, any related consumption or capitalisation of such resources received is also not recognised. 
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Note 3 The Cost of Delivering Our Services 

This section provides an account of the expenses incurred by the consolidated entity in providing key services. In 
Note 2, the funds that enable the provision of our services were disclosed and in this note the cost associated with 
provision of our services are recorded. 

3.1: Breakdown of employee benefits expenses 
3.2: Breakdown of operating expenses 
3.3: Finance costs  
3.4: Employee benefits in the consolidated statement of financial position 

  Consolidated 
  2024  2023 
  $  $ 
Note 3.1: Breakdown of employee benefits expenses     
Wages and salaries  24,157,158  19,655,896 
Superannuation  2,433,512  1,814,705 
Workcover expense  500,135  231,123 
Provision employee entitlements  265,937  (319,140) 
Portable long service leave  -  120,004 
Other employment costs  188,723  315,350 
Total employee benefits expenses  27,545,465  21,817,938 
     

Employee expenses include all costs related to employment including wages and salaries, temp staff, leave 
entitlements, related payroll taxes and recruitment costs.  

Contributions are made by the consolidated entity to an employee’s superannuation fund and are charged as 
expenses when incurred. 

Note 3.2: Breakdown of operating expenses     
Short-term and low value lease expenses  45,250  28,827 
Client services  6,227,069  5,010,479 
Elders expense  363,787  261,150 
Motor vehicle expenses  358,349  256,614 
Property expenses – commercial   1,341,552  192,451 
Property expenses – residential   368,453  122,852 
Office expenses  620,924  1,052,481 
ICT expenses  1,632,707  1,529,208 
Professional fees   660,767  452,549 
Repairs and maintenance   -  503,970 
Staff expenses   667,331  583,810 
Expected credit losses and bad debts  (12,848)  (4,800) 
Total operating expenses  12,273,341  9,989,591 
     

Other operating expenses generally represent the day-to-day running costs incurred in normal operations and are 
recognised as incurred. 

Note 3.3: Finance costs      
Finance fees  3,613  4,012 
Interest expense – leases  53,852  51,920 
Total finance costs  57,465  55,932 
     

Finance fees are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred. 

Interest expense is incurred on lease liabilities. Refer note 6.2 for further information.  
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Note 3 The Cost of Delivering Our Services (cont.) 

  Consolidated 
  2024  2023 
  $  $ 
Note 3.4: Employee benefits in the consolidated statement of financial position    
Current     
Provision for annual leave  1,370,921  1,259,534 
Provision for time in lieu  9,982  21,694 
Provision for long service leave  972,137  883,910 
Total current employee benefits  2,353,040  2,165,138 
     
Non-current     
Provision for long service leave  435,651  368,733 
     

Employee benefits recognition 

Provision is made for the consolidated entity’s liability for employee benefits arising from services rendered by 
employees to reporting date. These provisions are calculated under AASB 119 Employee Benefits. 

Short-term employee benefits 

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, annual leave and long service leave expected to 
be settled within 12 months of the reporting date are recognised in current liabilities in respect of employees' services 
up to the reporting date and are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. 

Other long-term employee benefits 

The liability for annual leave and long service leave not expected to be settled within 12 months of the reporting date 
are recognised in non-current liabilities, provided there is an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability. 
The liability is measured as the present value of expected future payments to be made in respect of services provided 
by employees up to the reporting date using the projected unit credit method. Consideration is given to expected 
future wage and salary levels, experience of employee departures and periods of service. Expected future payments 
are discounted using market yields at the reporting date on corporate bonds with terms to maturity and currency that 
match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows. 

Critical accounting estimates and judgments: Employee benefits 

As discussed above, the liability for employee benefits expected to be settled more than 12 months from the reporting 
date are recognised and measured at the present value of the estimated future cash flows to be made in respect of 
all employees at the reporting date. In determining the present value of the liability, estimates of attrition rates and 
pay increases through promotion and inflation have been taken into account.  
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Note 4 Key Assets to Support Service Delivery 

The consolidated entity controls infrastructure and other investments that are utilised in fulfilling our objectives and 
conducting our activities. They represent the key resources to be utilised for delivery of those outputs. 

4.1: Property, plant and equipment 
4.2: Right-of-use assets 
4.3: Depreciation and amortisation 
4.4: Financial assets 
4.5   Intangible assets 
4.6: Interests in subsidiary 

  Consolidated 
  2024  2023 
  $  $ 
Note 4.1: Property, plant and equipment     
Non-current     
Land     
Freehold land at valuation (2024)  15,780,000  - 
Freehold land at valuation (2018)  -  7,834,160 
Total land  15,780,000  7,834,160 
     
Buildings      
Buildings at valuation (2024)  28,585,000  - 
Buildings at valuation (2018)  -  22,528,077 
Less accumulated depreciation  -  (7,664,808) 
Total buildings  28,585,000  14,863,269 
Total land and buildings   44,365,000  22,697,429 
     
Plant and equipment      
Leasehold improvements at cost  150,628  59,879 
Less accumulated depreciation  (99,293)  (50,146) 
Total leasehold improvements   51,335  9,733 
     
Plant and equipment at cost  931,312  4,970,308 
Less accumulated depreciation  (629,862)  (4,208,040) 
Total plant and equipment  301,450  762,268 
     
Motor vehicles at cost  439,721  454,971 
Less accumulated depreciation  (357,789)  (371,028) 
Total motor vehicles  81,932  83,943 
     
ICT equipment at cost  1,137,736  1,689,300 
Less accumulated depreciation  (779,906)  (1,240,346) 
Total ICT equipment  357,830  448,954 
     
Fixtures, furniture and fittings at cost  799,702  927,192 
Less accumulated depreciation  (437,205)  (751,386) 
Total fixtures, furniture and fittings  362,497  175,806 
Total plant and equipment  1,155,044  1,480,704 
     
Work in progress at cost  720,433  1,741,294 
Total property, plant and equipment  46,240,477  25,919,427 
     



R
U

M
BALAR

A ABO
R

IG
IN

AL C
O

-O
PER

ATIVE LTD
 AN

D
 TH

E EN
TITY IT C

O
N

TR
O

LLED
 

ABN
 84 530 647 942  

N
otes to the C

onsolidated Financial Statem
ents 

For the year ended 30 June 2024 

19 

N
ote 4 K

ey A
ssets to Support Service D

elivery (cont.) 

N
ote 4.1: Property, plant and equipm

ent (cont.) 

M
ovem

ents in carrying am
ounts 

M
ovem

ent in the carrying am
ounts for each class of property, plant and equipm

ent betw
een the beginning and the end of the current financial year is set out below

: 

 
Freehold 

land 
B

uildings 
Leasehold 

im
provem

ents 
Plant and 

equipm
ent 

M
otor 

vehicles 
IC

T 
equipm

ent 

Fixtures, 
furniture 

and fittings 
W

ork in 
progress 

Total 
 

$ 
$ 

$ 
$ 

$ 
$ 

$ 
$ 

$ 
2024 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
Balance at 1 July 2023 

7,834,160 
14,863,269 

9,733 
762,268 

83,943 
448,954 

175,806 
1,741,294 

25,919,427 
Additions 

- 
- 

4,112 
200,668 

18,586 
193,528 

301,451 
2,264,499 

2,982,844 
Transfers from

 W
IP 

62,000 
2,282,314 

45,514 
678,387 

- 
40,476 

17,712 
(3,126,403) 

- 
Transfers betw

een asset classes 
- 

(8,399) 
8,399 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

Transfers to intangible assets 
- 

- 
- 

(2,961) 
- 

(121,650) 
- 

- 
(124,611) 

Expensed to profit or loss 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

(158,957) 
(158,957) 

D
isposals (net) 

- 
- 

- 
(36,570) 

(687) 
(314) 

- 
- 

(37,571) 
Transfers on revaluation 

- 
1,300,948 

(8,587) 
(1,176,293) 

- 
(41,155) 

(74,913) 
- 

- 
R

evaluations 
7,883,840 

10,747,067 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
18,630,907 

D
epreciation expense 

- 
(600,199) 

(7,836) 
(124,049) 

(19,910) 
(162,009) 

(57,559) 
- 

(971,562) 
B

alance at 30 June 2024 
15,780,000 

28,585,000 
51,335 

301,450 
81,932 

357,830 
362,497 

720,433 
46,240,477 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Land and buildings carried at valuation 

The freehold land and buildings w
ere last independently valued at 30 June 2024 by Acum

entis.  

C
aveats over land and buildings 

N
um

erous properties in the nam
e of the consolidated entity have caveats over the title in the nam

e of the various governm
ent bodies that assisted w

ith the funding for their 
acquisition. 
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Note 4 Key Assets to Support Service Delivery (cont.) 

Note 4.1: Property, plant and equipment (cont.) 

Property, plant and equipment recognition 

Each class of property, plant and equipment is carried at cost or fair value less, where applicable any accumulated 
depreciation and impairment. 

Class of fixed asset Method  
Land Fair value 
Buildings Fair value   
Leasehold improvements Cost 
Plant and equipment Cost 
Motor vehicles Cost 
ICT equipment Cost 
Fixtures, furniture and fittings Cost 
Work in progress Cost 

Land and buildings are shown at fair value, based on periodic, at least every 5 years, valuations by external 
independent valuers, less subsequent depreciation and impairment for buildings. The valuations are undertaken 
more frequently if there is a material change in the fair value relative to the carrying amount. Any accumulated 
depreciation at the date of revaluation is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset and the net amount 
is restated to the revalued amount of the asset. Increases in the carrying amounts arising on revaluation of land and 
buildings are credited in other comprehensive income through to the revaluation reserve in equity. Any revaluation 
decrements are initially taken in other comprehensive income through to the revaluation surplus reserve to the extent 
of any previous revaluation surplus of the same asset. Thereafter the decrements are taken to the net result.  

Plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment. Historical cost 
includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. 

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when there is no future economic benefit 
to the consolidated entity. Gains and losses between the carrying amount and the disposal proceeds are taken to 
the net result. Any revaluation surplus reserve relating to the item disposed of is transferred directly to retained 
earnings.  

Impairment of assets 

At each reporting date, the consolidated entity assesses the carrying values of its tangible and intangible assets to 
determine whether there is any indication that those assets have been impaired. The assessment will include 
considering external sources of information. If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount of the assets, being 
the higher of the asset's fair value less costs to sell and value in use, is compared to the asset's carrying value. Any 
excess of the asset's carrying value over its recoverable amount is expensed to the statement of comprehensive 
income. 

Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the consolidated entity estimates 
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. 
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Note 4 Key Assets to Support Service Delivery (cont.) 

  Consolidated 
  2024  2023 
  $  $ 
Note 4.2: Right-of-use assets     
     
Gross carrying amount and accumulated depreciation     
Non-current     
Property – at cost  694,467  468,612 
Less accumulated depreciation  (174,776)  (104,726) 
Total property right-of-use assets  519,691  363,886 
     
Motor vehicle – at cost  1,889,257  1,790,009 
Less accumulated depreciation  (1,219,594)  (1,036,578) 
Total motor vehicles right-of-use assets  669,663  753,431 
Total right-of-use assets  1,189,354  1,117,317 
     
Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of each class of asset     

 Property 
Motor 

vehicles Total 
 $ $ $ 
Year ended 30 June 2024    
Balance at the beginning of year 363,886 753,431 1,117,317 
Remeasurement of right-of-use asset 3,588 26,209 29,797 
Additions 222,266 440,825 663,091 
Disposals - (9,001) (9,001) 
Depreciation expense (70,049) (541,801) (611,850) 
Balance at the end of the year 519,691 669,663 1,189,354 
    

Right-of-use asset recognition 

A right-of-use asset is recognised at the commencement date of a lease as required by AASB 16 Leases. The right-
of-use asset is measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability, adjusted for, as applicable, 
any lease payments made at or before the commencement date net of any lease incentives received, any initial direct 
costs incurred, and, except where included in the cost of inventories, an estimate of costs expected to be incurred 
for dismantling and removing the underlying asset, and restoring the site or asset. 

The consolidated entity has elected not to recognise a right-of-use asset and corresponding lease liability for short-
term leases with terms of 12 months or less and leases of low-value assets. Lease payments on these assets are 
expensed as incurred. Refer note 3.2 for further details.  
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Note 4 Key Assets to Support Service Delivery (cont.) 

  Consolidated 
  2024  2023 
  $  $ 
Note 4.3: Depreciation and amortisation     
Property, plant and equipment (note 4.1)  971,562  1,080,675 
Right of use assets (note 4.2)  611,850  596,141 
Intangible assets (note 4.5)  55,076  - 
Total depreciation   1,638,488  1,676,816 
     

Depreciation and amortisation recognition 

Property, plant and equipment, excluding freehold land, is depreciated on either a straight-line or diminishing value 
basis over the assets’ useful life to the consolidated entity, commencing when the asset is ready for use. 

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the unexpired period of the lease or the estimated 
useful life of the asset, whichever is the shorter. Where the consolidated entity expects to obtain ownership of the 
leased asset at the end of the lease term, the depreciation is over its estimated useful life. Right-of use assets are 
subject to impairment or adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. 

Intangible software assets are amortised over its estimated useful life. 

The depreciation rates used for each class of depreciable asset are shown below: 

Class of fixed asset Method Depreciation rate 
Buildings Straight-line 2.5% – 3% 

Leasehold improvements Straight-line 
Diminishing value 5% – 15%   

Plant and equipment Straight-line 
Diminishing value 1% – 35% 

Motor vehicles Straight-line 
Diminishing value 1% – 20% 

ICT equipment Straight-line 
Diminishing value 5% – 45% 

Fixtures, furniture and fittings Straight-line 
Diminishing value 5% – 30% 

Software Straight-line 10% – 33% 
Right-of-use – property Straight-line 11% – 20% 

At the end of each annual reporting period, the depreciation method, useful life and residual value of each asset is 
reviewed. Any revisions are accounted for prospectively as a change in estimate. 

Critical accounting estimates and judgments: Estimation of useful lives of assets 

The consolidated entity determines the estimated useful lives and related depreciation and amortisation charges for 
its property, plant and equipment and finite life intangible assets. The useful lives could change significantly as a 
result of technical innovations or some other event. The depreciation charge will increase where the useful lives are 
less than previously estimated lives, or technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been abandoned or 
sold will be written off or written down. 

Note 4.4: Financial assets     
Current     
Term deposits with maturity > 90 days  22,290,594  14,263,521 
Total financial assets  22,290,594  14,263,521 
     

Refer Note 7.1 for details on recognition accounting policy in relation to financial assets. 
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Note 4 Key Assets to Support Service Delivery (cont.) 

 2024  2023 
 $  $ 
Note 4.5: Intangible assets    
Non-current    
Software (at cost) 294,621  - 
Less accumulated amortisation (131,103)  - 
Total intangible assets  163,518  - 
    
 Intangibles Total 
 $ $ 
2024   
Balance at 1 July 2023 - - 
Additions 93,984 93,984 
Transfers from property, plant and equipment 124,610 124,610 
Amortisation (55,076) (55,076) 
Balance at 30 June 2024 163,518 163,518 
    

Intangible assets recognition 

Software is measured on the cost basis and are therefore carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and any 
accumulated impairment losses.  

Impairment of non-financial assets  

Non-financial assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 
carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset's 
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. 

Recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's fair value less costs of disposal and value-in-use. The value-in-use 
is the present value of the estimated future cash flows relating to the asset using a pre-tax discount rate specific to 
the asset or cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. Assets that do not have independent cash flows are 
grouped together to form a cash-generating unit. 

Note 4.6: Interests in subsidiary 

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities and results of the following subsidiaries in 
accordance with the accounting policy described in note 1.  

Name of entity Principal activity 
Place of 

business/Country 
of incorporation 

Ownership interest 
2024 2023 

Rumbalara Housing Ltd 
The principal purpose of RHL is to provide 
benevolent relief to people in need by providing 
affordable housing and associated services. 

Australia 100% - 
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Note 5 Other Assets and Liabilities   

This section sets out those assets and liabilities that arose from the consolidated entity’s operations. 

5.1 : Trade and other receivables  
5.2: Other assets  
5.3 : Trade and other payables 
5.4: Contract liabilities 

  Consolidated 
  2024  2023 
  $  $ 
Note 5.1: Trade and other receivables     
Current     
Trade receivables  335,447  1,366,895 
Provision for expected credit losses  (36,852)  (49,700) 
Accrued income  -  15,277 
Accrued interest  631,416  243,255 
Other  1,001  1,587 
Total trade and other receivables  931,012  1,577,314 
     

Receivables recognition 

Trade receivables are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method, less any allowance for expected credit losses. Trade receivables are generally due for 
settlement within 30 days. 

Other receivables are recognised at amortised cost, less any allowance for expected credit losses. 

The consolidated entity has applied the simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses, which uses a 
lifetime expected loss allowance. To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables have been grouped 
based on days overdue. 

Note 5.2: Other assets     
Current     
Security bond  13,389  15,950 
Prepayments  17,014  24,320 
Total other assets  30,403  40,270 
     

Other assets recognition 

Other assets include prepayments which represent payments in advance of receipt of goods or services or that part 
of expenses made in one accounting period covering a term extending beyond that period. 

Security bonds are held on account for leases. 
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Note 5 Other Assets and Liabilities (cont.) 

  Consolidated 
  2024  2023 
  $  $ 
Note 5.3: Trade and other payables     
Current     
Trade payables  1,411,430  534,999 
Other accrued expenses  392,707  234,475 
GST payable  314,002  609,346 
FBT payable  22,062  27,222 
PAYG withholding payable  581,568  422,038 
Wages and superannuation payable/accrued  101,683  512,380 
LSL portability payable  43,325  30,241 
Credit card payable  6,087  16,512 
Other payables  140,535  130,005 
Total trade and other payables  3,013,399  2,517,218 
     

Payables recognition 

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the consolidated entity prior to the end of the 
financial year and which are unpaid. Due to their short-term nature, they are measured at amortised cost and are not 
discounted. The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition. 

Note 5.4: Contract liabilities     
Current     
Community aged care packages received in advance  15,008  286,480 
Grant funding received in advance   19,365,615  21,239,465 
Total contract liabilities   19,380,623  21,525,945 
     

Contract liabilities recognition 

Contract liabilities represent the consolidated entity’s obligation to transfer services to a client/funding body that are 
recognised when a client/funding body pays consideration, or when the consolidated entity recognises a receivable 
to reflect the unconditional right to consideration (whichever is earlier), before the consolidated entity has transferred 
the services to the client/funding body. 

This funding has been deferred in accordance with the requirements of AASB 15 and AASB 1058 (capital grants) as 
funding received for specific programs but has yet to be spent. These funds will be spent in accordance with the 
grant agreements over future financial years. 
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Note 6 How We Finance Our Operations    

This section provides information on the sources of finance utilised by the consolidated entity during its operations, 
along with other information related to financing activities of the consolidated entity.  

This section includes disclosures of balances that are financial instruments.  

6.1: Cash and cash equivalents 
6.2: Lease liabilities 
6.3: Capital and leasing commitments 

  Consolidated 
  2024  2023 
  $  $ 
Note 6.1: Cash and cash equivalents     
Current     
Cash at bank  1,620,403  13,017,257 
Cash on hand  8,050  7,550 
Total cash and cash equivalents   1,628,453  13,024,807 
     

Cash and cash equivalents recognition 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand along with deposits held at call and short-term 
deposits maturing within three months.  

Note 6.2: Lease liabilities     
Current     
Lease liabilities – property  77,349  56,687 
Lease liabilities – motor vehicles  412,145  440,126 
Total current lease liabilities  489,494  496,813 
     
Non-current     
Lease liabilities – property  476,209  332,203 
Lease liabilities – motor vehicles  278,295  335,736 
Total non-current lease liabilities  754,504  667,939 
Total lease liabilities   1,243,998  1,164,752 
     
Maturity analysis of future lease payments (undiscounted)     
Not later than one year  540,009  532,327 
Later than one year and not later than 5 years  647,476  568,851 
Greater than 5 years  199,177  118,612 
Total  1,386,662  1,219,790 
     

Lease liabilities recognition 

A lease liability is recognised at the commencement date of a lease as required by AASB 16 Leases. The lease 
liability is initially recognised at the present value of the lease payments to be made over the term of the lease, 
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, the consolidated 
entity’s incremental borrowing rate.  

Lease payments comprise of fixed payments less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that 
depend on an index or a rate, amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees, exercise price of a 
purchase option when the exercise of the option is reasonably certain to occur, and any anticipated termination 
penalties. The variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are expensed in the period in which 
they are incurred.  
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Note 6 How We Finance Our Operations (cont.)   

Note 6.2: Lease liabilities (cont.) 

Lease liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The carrying amounts are 
remeasured if there is a change in the following: 

 future lease payments arising from a change in an index or a rate used; 

 residual guarantee; 

 lease term; 

 certainty of a purchase option; and 

 termination penalties. 

When a lease liability is remeasured, an adjustment is made to the corresponding right-of use asset, or to the net 
result if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset is fully written down. 

The consolidated entity has also applied the peppercorn lease practical expedient for its lease of part of the premises 
of the former Mooroopna Secondary College. The lease is for an initial 3 years with one further option of 2 years. 
Rent is payable at $1 per annum and is payable in the commencement date and each successive anniversary. The 
lease commenced on 12 March 2024. 

Critical accounting estimates and judgments: Lease term 

The lease term is a significant component in the measurement of both the right-of-use asset and lease liability. 
Judgement is exercised in determining whether there is reasonable certainty that an option to extend the lease or 
purchase the underlying asset will be exercised, or an option to terminate the lease will not be exercised, when 
ascertaining the periods to be included in the lease term. In determining the lease term, all facts and circumstances 
that create an economical incentive to exercise an extension option, or not to exercise a termination option, are 
considered at the lease commencement date. Factors considered may include: 

 the importance of the asset to the consolidated entity’s operations; 

 comparison of terms and conditions to prevailing market rates; 

 incurrence of significant penalties; 

 existence of significant leasehold improvements; and 

 the costs and disruption to replace the asset. 

The consolidated entity reassesses whether it is reasonably certain to exercise an extension option, or not exercise 
a termination option, if there is a significant event or significant change in circumstances. 

Critical accounting estimates and judgments: Incremental borrowing rate 

Where the interest rate implicit in a lease cannot be readily determined, an incremental borrowing rate is estimated 
to discount future lease payments to measure the present value of the lease liability at the lease commencement 
date. Such a rate is based on what the consolidated entity estimates it would have to pay a third party to borrow the 
funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use asset, with similar terms, security and 
economic environment. 
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Note 6 How We Finance Our Operations (cont.)   

Note 6.3: Capital and leasing commitments 

a) Operating lease commitments 

If leases are categorised as either low value or short-term leases management have elected to apply the practical 
expedients in relation to these leases, and as such these leases are accounted on a straight-line basis in the net 
result.  

Where management is in the process of negotiating new lease agreements these have not been disclosed as an 
operating lease commitment as they were not committed at balance date. These leases become short-term leases 
with month-to-month tenancy until a new lease is formalised.   

There were no material operating lease commitments to disclose as at 30 June 2024 (2023: Nil).  

  Consolidated  
  2024  2023 
  $  $ 
b) Capital expenditure commitments     
Capital expenditure commitments contracted:     
Capital commitments  134,966  - 
Total capital commitments  134,966  - 
     
The commitments are expected to be incurred:     

Not later than one year  134,966  - 
Total  134,966  - 
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Note 7 Risks, Contingencies and Valuation Uncertainties 

The consolidated entity is exposed to risk from its activities and outside factors. In addition, it is often necessary to 
make judgements and estimates associated with recognition and measurement of items in the consolidated financial 
statements. This section sets out financial instrument specific information, as well as those items that are contingent 
in nature or require a higher level of judgement to be applied, which for the consolidated entity is related mainly to 
fair value determination. 

7.1: Financial instruments   
7.2: Contingent assets and contingent liabilities 
7.3: Fair value measurement 

Note 7.1: Financial instruments 

Financial instruments arise out of agreements that give rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability 
or equity instrument of another entity. The consolidated entity applies AASB 9 and classifies all of its financial assets 
based on the business model for managing the assets and the asset’s contractual terms.  

Financial assets at amortised cost 

Financial assets are measured at amortised costs if both of the following criteria are met and the assets are not 
designated as fair value through net result: 

 the assets are held by the consolidated entity to collect the contractual cash flows; and 

 the assets’ contractual terms give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest. 

These assets are initially recognised at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs and subsequently 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method less any impairment.  

The consolidated entity recognises the following assets in this category: 

 cash and cash equivalents; 

 term deposits; and 

 trade and other receivables. 

Categories of financial liabilities  

Financial liabilities at amortised cost 

Financial liabilities at amortised cost are initially recognised on the date they are originated. They are initially 
measured at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, these financial 
instruments are measured at amortised cost with any difference between the initial recognised amount and the 
redemption value being recognised in net results over the period of the interest-bearing liability, using the effective 
interest rate method.  

The consolidated entity recognises the following liabilities in this category: 

 payables; and 

 lease liabilities. 

Derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities  

Financial assets 

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is 
derecognised when:  

 the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or 

 the consolidated entity retains the right to receive cash flows from the asset, but has assumed an obligation to 
pay them in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass through’ arrangement; or 
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Note 7 Risks, Contingencies and Valuation Uncertainties (cont.) 

Note 7.1: Financial instruments (cont.)  

 the consolidated entity has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset and either: 

o has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset; or 

o has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset but has transferred 
control of the asset. 

Where the consolidated entity has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards or 
transferred control, the asset is recognised to the extent of the consolidated entity’s continuing involvement in the 
asset. 

Financial liabilities  

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or expires. 

Note 7.2: Contingent assets and contingent liabilities 

There are no known material contingent assets or contingent liabilities for the consolidated entity as at 30 June 2024 
(2023: Nil). 

Note 7.3: Fair value measurement 

When an asset or liability, financial or non-financial, is measured at fair value for recognition or disclosure purposes, 
the fair value is based on the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date; and assumes that the transaction will take place 
either: in the principal market; or in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market. 

Fair value is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, 
assuming they act in their economic best interests. For non-financial assets, the fair value measurement is based on 
its highest and best use. Valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data 
are available to measure fair value, are used, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the 
use of unobservable inputs. 

Assets and liabilities measured at fair value are classified into three levels, using a fair value hierarchy that reflects 
the significance of the inputs used in making the measurements. Classifications are reviewed at each reporting date 
and transfers between levels are determined based on a reassessment of the lowest level of input that is significant 
to the fair value measurement. 

The consolidated entity measures land and buildings at fair value on a recurring basis.  

The following tables detail the consolidated entity’s assets and liabilities, measured or disclosed at fair value, using 
a three level hierarchy, based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the entire fair value measurement, 
being: 

Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at 
the measurement date. 

Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either 
directly or indirectly. 

Level 3: Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. 

For recurring and non-recurring fair value measurements, external valuers may be used when internal expertise is 
either not available or when the valuation is deemed to be significant. External valuers are selected based on market 
knowledge and reputation. Where there is a significant change in fair value of an asset or liability from one period to 
another, an analysis is undertaken, which includes a verification of the major inputs applied in the latest valuation 
and a comparison, where applicable, with external sources of data. 
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Note 7 Risks, Contingencies and Valuation Uncertainties (cont.) 

Note 7.3: Fair value measurement (cont.) 

Fair value hierarchy 

The table below shows the assigned level for each asset held at fair value: 

 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
 $ $ $ $ 
2024     
Assets     

Land and buildings - 28,805,000 15,560,000 44,365,000 
Total assets - 28,805,000 15,560,000 44,365,000 
     

There were no transfers between levels during the financial year. 
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Note 8 Other Disclosures 

This section includes additional material disclosures required by accounting standards or otherwise, for the 
understanding of this financial report. 

8.1: Equity – reserves  
8.2: Key management personnel compensation 
8.3: Related parties 
8.4: Remuneration of auditors 
8.5: Parent entity information 
8.6: Events occurring after the reporting date 

  Consolidated 
  2024  2023 
  $  $ 
Note 8.1: Equity – reserves      
a) Community support fund reserve     
Opening balance  1,000,000  1,000,000 
Total community support fund reserve   1,000,000  1,000,000 

     
The fund was established in 2017 to provide the board of the consolidated entity with the opportunity to make one 
off contributions to the community to assist our members in time of need. 

b) Asset revaluation reserve     
Opening balance   5,030,311  5,030,311 
Revaluation increment, net of tax  18,630,907  - 
Total asset revaluation reserve  23,661,218  5,030,311 
Total reserves  24,661,218  6,030,311 
     

The reserve is used to recognise increments and decrements in the fair value of land and buildings. 

Note 8.2: Key management personnel compensation 

Any persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the consolidated 
entity, directly or indirectly, is considered key management personnel. For the consolidated entity this includes 
directors and the executive management team.  

The aggregate compensation made to key management personnel of consolidated entity is set out below: 

Aggregate compensation  2,215,378  2,316,891 
     

Note 8.3: Related parties  

Key management personnel 

Disclosures relating to key management personnel are set out in note 8.2. 

Transactions with related parties 

On the establishment of RAC’s subsidiary, RHL, RAC entered into a loan agreement with RHL. RAC incurred 
transactions on behalf of RHL which was subsequently transferred to the loan account at balance date. This loan is 
eliminated on consolidation.  

There were no other material transactions with related parties during the current and previous financial year. 

Receivable from and payable to related parties 

There were no material trade receivables from or trade payables to related parties at the current and previous 
reporting date. 
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Note 8 Other Disclosures (cont.) 

Note 8.3: Related parties (cont.)  

Loans to/from related parties 

There were no loans to or from related parties at the current and previous reporting date other than those eliminated 
on consolidation. 

Note 8.4: Remuneration of auditors 

During the financial year the following fees were paid or payable for services provided by RSM Australia Partners, 
the auditor of the consolidated entity: 

  Consolidated 
  2024  2023 
  $  $ 
Audit services     
Audit of the financial statements   144,000  117,355 
     
Other services – RSM Australia     
Other accounting services  11,000  6,100 
Other  10,410  10,345 
Total remuneration of auditors  165,410  133,800 
     

Note 8.5: Parent entity information 

b) Guarantees  

The parent entity provided a comfort letter to its subsidiary as at 30 June 2024.  

 

  Parent 
  2024  2023 
  $  $ 
a) Summary financial information     
The individual financial statements for the parent entity show the following aggregate amounts:  
     
Deficit for the year  (735,242)  (116,581) 
Total comprehensive income  17,895,665  (116,581) 
     
Statement of financial position     
Current assets  24,874,963  28,905,912 
Non-current assets  47,648,283  27,036,744 
Total assets  72,523,246  55,942,656 
     
Current liabilities  25,236,556  26,705,114 
Non-current liabilities  1,190,155  1,036,672 
Total liabilities  26,426,711  27,741,786 
Net assets  46,096,535  28,200,870 
     
Equity     
Reserves   24,661,218  6,030,311 
Retained earnings  21,435,317  22,170,559 
Total equity  46,096,535  28,200,870 
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Note 8 Other Disclosures (cont.) 

Note 8.5: Parent entity information (cont.)  

c) Contingent assets or liabilities  

The parent entity did not have any material contingent assets or liabilities as at 30 June 2024 or 30 June 2023. 

d) Commitments  

Operating lease commitments  

The parent entity did not have any material operating lease commitments to disclose as at 30 June 2024 (2023: Nil).  

  Parent 
  2024  2023 
  $  $ 
Capital expenditure commitments     
Capital commitments  18,406  - 
Total capital commitments  18,406  - 
     
The commitments are expected to be incurred:     

Not later than one year  18,406  - 
Total  18,406  - 
     

Note 8.6: Events occurring after the reporting date 

No matter or circumstance has arisen since 30 June 2024 that has significantly affected, or may significantly affect 
the consolidated entity's operations, the results of those operations, or the consolidated entity's state of affairs in 
future financial years.
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In the directors' opinion: 

 the attached consolidated financial statements and notes comply with the Co-operatives National Law Application
Act 2013, the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 and associated regulations, the
Australian Accounting Standards – Simplified Disclosures and other mandatory professional reporting
requirements;

 the attached consolidated financial statements and notes give a true and fair view of the consolidate entity’s
financial position as at 30 June 2024 and of its performance for the financial year ended on that date; and

 there are reasonable grounds to believe that the consolidated entity will be able to pay its debts as and when they
become due and payable.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of directors. 

On behalf of the directors 

Marie Barbance  Eric Egan 
Chairperson  Board member 

Dated this      day of November 2024 7th
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT  
To the Members of Rumbalara Aboriginal Co-operative 
Limited and its subsidiary 

 

Opinion 

We have audited the consolidated financial report of Rumbalara Aboriginal Co-operative Limited (the Co-operative) 
and its subsidiary (the Group), which comprises the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2024, 
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes 
in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, 
including material accounting policy information, and the directors' declaration.  

In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of the Group is in accordance with the Co-operatives National Law 
Application Act 2013 and Division 60 of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 (ACNC 
Act), including: 

(a) giving a true and fair view of the Group's financial position as at 30 June 2024 and of its financial performance 
and cash flows for the year then ended; and  

(b) complying with Australian Accounting Standards – Simplified Disclosures and Division 60 of the Australian 
Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Regulation 2022. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those standards 
are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section of our report. We 
are independent of the Group in accordance with the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical 
Standards Board's APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to our audit 
of the financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Other Information  

Those charged with governance are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 
information included in the Group's annual report for the year ended 30 June 2024, but does not include the financial 
report and the auditor's report thereon.  

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we do not express any form 
of assurance conclusion thereon.  

In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, 
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial report or our knowledge obtained 
in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, 
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.  
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Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Report 

The directors of the Group are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view in 
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards – Simplified Disclosures, the Co-operatives National Law 
Application Act 2013 and the ACNC Act, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to 
enable the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going 
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting 
unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to 
do so. 

The directors are responsible for overseeing the Group's financial reporting process. 

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the 
Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise 
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected 
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.  

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial report is located at the Auditing and Assurance 
Standards Board website at: http://www.auasb.gov.au/Home.aspx. This description forms part of our auditor's report. 

Independence  

We confirm that the independence declaration required by the ACNC Act, which has been given to the responsible 
entities of the Group, would be in the same terms if given to the responsible entities as at the time of this auditor’s 
report. 

 

 
RSM AUSTRALIA PARTNERS 

 
JOHN FINDLAY 
Partner 

Ballarat, Victoria 
Dated this 7th day of November 2024 
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The directors present their report, together with the financial statements of Rumbalara Aboriginal Co-Operative Ltd 
(“RAC”) as a stand-alone entity for the year ended 30 June 2024. 

Separate consolidated financial statements are also prepared for the year ended 30 June 2024. 

Directors 

The following persons were directors of RAC during the whole of the financial year and up to the date of this report, 
unless otherwise stated: 

Marie Barbance 
Eric Egan 
Pamela Pederson 
Joanne Atkinson (Appointed 15 February 2024) 
Neville Atkinson (Appointed 15 February 2024) 
Suzanne Nelson (Appointed 18 January 2024. Resigned 15 February 2024. Reappointed 19 June 2024) 
Gregory James (Resigned 16 February 2024) 
Cindy McGee (Resigned 14 January 2024) 
Graham Briggs (Appointed 15 February 2024. Resigned 18 June 2024) 

Review of operations 

The deficit of RAC after providing for income tax amounted to $735,242 (2023: deficit $116,581) and after taking into 
consideration other comprehensive income, this increased to a total comprehensive profit of $17,895,665 (2023: 
comprehensive loss of $116,581). 

Principal activities 

The principal activity of RAC during the financial year was the provision of health, wellbeing and social services to 
members of the Aboriginal Community in the Goulburn Valley Region. 

No significant changes in the nature of RAC’s activities occurred during the financial year. 

Significant changes in the state of affairs 

On 12 July 2023 Rumbalara Housing Ltd was established as a subsidiary of parent entity RAC. 

There were no other significant changes in the state of affairs of RAC during the financial year. 

Matters subsequent to the end of the financial year 

No matter or circumstance has arisen since 30 June 2024 that has significantly affected, or may significantly affect 
RAC’s operations, the results of those operations, or RAC’s state of affairs in future financial years. 

Likely developments and expected results of operations 

Information on likely developments in the operations of RAC and the expected results of operations have not been 
included in this report because the directors believe it would be likely to result in unreasonable prejudice to RAC.  

Environmental regulation 

RAC is not subject to any significant environmental regulation under Australian Commonwealth or State law. 

Dividends 

No dividends were paid or declared during the financial year (2023: Nil). 
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Shares and contributions on winding up 

RAC is registered as a co-operative without shares under the Co-operatives National Law (Vic). 

As such there are: 

 no member guarantees;  

 or no shares under option; and  

 no ordinary shares of RAC issued on the exercise of options.  

Information on directors 

Marie Barbance Chairperson 
Qualifications Certified OHS Practitioner; Diploma in OHS; Cert IV in OHS; Cert IV in Training and Assessment 
Experience and expertise 28+ years in the Health Industry Nursing and Educator/ facilitation; 4 years Rumbalara Aboriginal 

Co-operative; Currently employed by City of Greater Shepparton Director Aboriginal 
Advancement League, 3 years; Director of the Torch Programme, and Currently on Rumbalara 
Board of Directors since October 2020. 

Special responsibilities Deputy Chairperson RHL, Chairperson Clinical Governance Committee 
  
Eric Egan Board Member 
Experience and expertise Hume Region Department of Justice, 3 years; Employed at MADEC, 6 years; Currently 

employed by Vic. Police; Dhelk Dja (previously IFVRAG), 8 years; Campaspe Shire Youth 
Services Network Committee, 6 years; Marrung Wurreker (Education), 5 years; Aboriginal 
Workforce Development Strategy Group (Employment) 3.6 years; GOTAFE Aboriginal 
Community Advisory Committee; Previously a Hume RAJAC and Shepparton LAJAC member. 

Special responsibilities Chairperson RHL 
  
Pamela Pederson Board Member 
Experience and expertise Currently sitting on various courts in Melbourne and Shepparton, held these positions since 2005 

(Melbourne Magistrates, Lorrie Court, County Koorie Court, Melbourne and Heidelberg 
Children’s Koorie Court, Shepparton County Koorie Court, Shepparton magistrates Koorie Court, 
Shepparton Children’s Koorie Court; Member of the Adult Parole Board. 

  
Joanne Atkinson Deputy Chairperson 
Qualifications Bachelor of Education; Diploma of Education; Diploma of Management; Certificate IV Train the 

Trainer; Diploma of Life Coaching 
Experience and expertise Currently Manager, Manager Koori Courts, Courts Services Victoria, held these positions since 

1997 (Close the Health Gap Executive Officer, Victorian Aboriginal Health Service, HR & 
Operations Manager/Acting CEO - Aboriginal Housing Victoria, Tenancy Manager, Aboriginal 
Housing Victoria, Executive Officer, Hume Regional Aboriginal Justice Advisory Committee 
(RAJAC) – Dept. of Justice, Indigenous Facilitator Council of Australian Government (COAG) 
Department of Aboriginal Affairs  Victoria (12-month secondment from Department of Justice to 
implement this initiative); Aboriginal Housing Services Officer - Department of Human Services 

Special responsibilities Chairperson – Finance, Risk and Audit Committee 
  
Neville Atkinson Board Member 
Experience and expertise Marketing and Research – Peat Marwick, Cultural Heritage Legislation Act Regulations, 

Management Planning, Victorian Aboriginal Legal Services, Para legal Training Qualifications, 
Victorian Aboriginal Deaths in Custody Research and Investigation tam, Business Development 
Management, Governance Training, Financial management, Establishing Horticultural/ 
Agricultural Businesses 

Special responsibilities Board Member RHL 
  

 

  



RUMBALARA ABORIGINAL CO-OPERATIVE LTD  

ABN 84 530 647 942 

Directors’ Report 
For the year ended 30 June 2024 

3 

Information on directors (cont.) 

Suzanne Nelson  Board Member 
Qualifications Certificate of Completion DRUMBEAT Facilitator Training, CRAF Training, Cognitive Behavioral 

Therapy Training, Ice: Training for Frontline Workers 6 Modules, 1st Aid Certificate, Diploma of 
Community Services, Mental Health First Aid Instructor, Certificate III, Community Services Work 

Experience and expertise Enrolled Nurse, Alcohol and other Drugs Therapeutic Clinician, Aboriginal Hospital Liaison 
Officer, Outreach Worker, Grief and Trauma Counsellor & AOD Support Worker, Family Support   
Worker, Family Aid Unit Coordinator. 

  
Gregory James Chairperson  
Qualifications Diploma of Teaching, Diploma of Teaching Technology, Councilor City of Greater Shepparton, 

Builder, Justic of the Peace 
Experience and expertise Board of Director 5 years at Rumbalara, Councilor with City of Greater Shepparton 3 years. 
Special responsibilities Chairperson, Clinical Governance Committee, Chairperson Finance, Risk and Audit Committee 
  
Cindy McGee Board Member 
Qualifications Certificate IV in Health, AOD & MH, Advanced Diploma in Leadership & Human Resources, 

Bachelor Degree in Business and Graduate Certificate in Management 
Experience and expertise Over 20 years’ experience in Leadership & Management, 10 years as a nurse and over 8 years 

in Social Welfare; Previously employed at Rumbalara for 7.5 years in areas of Social Emotional 
Wellbeing, Justice & Community Services, Empowering Woman and Children, Strategy & Policy, 
and special projects. Previously employed at BDAC as Director of Community Health and 
Wellbeing, and Executive Director of Program Delivery. Currently Director of Program Delivery. 
Currently Director of Health and Aged Care – Njernda. Currently board member of Bangarang 
Aboriginal Corporation.  

Special responsibilities Chairperson – Finance, Risk and Audit Committee 
  
Graham Briggs Board Member 
Qualifications Advanced Diploma of Government, Diploma of Development, Diploma of Management 
Experience and expertise Program Manager Juvenile Justice Program – KEE, Aboriginal Liaison Officer – GVH, Aboriginal 

Educator – Mooroopna, Secondary College, Regional Co-ordinator of the Indigenous FV 
Strategy Hume Region – DHS, Statewide Co-ordinator of Aboriginal victims of crime team – 
Dept. Justice, Kinship Care Program Manager/ Senior Cultural Officer - Aboriginal Childcare 
Agency, Regional Co-ordinator of the Indig. FV Strategy – DFFH, ASHE, Executive Manager 
Justice Services - Rumbalara Aboriginal Co-operative, Indigenous Project Co-ordinator – Winton 
Wetlands, Mokoan Project, Advanced Case Manager – Community Safety/ Corrections – Dept. 
of Justice, Established Aldara Yenara – Managing Director, Programme skilled rail v/ line hand 
signaller, Koori Engagement major projects – Wyndham & Bendigo Law Courts 

Co-operative secretary 

Edel Conroy has held the role of co-operative secretary since 29 July 2019. 

Edel Conroy Co-operative Secretary 
Qualifications Bachelor of Commerce; Member of the Australian Institute of Company Directors 
Experience and expertise Highly skilled, experienced finance, risk and governance executive with over 25 years’ 

experience across the private, public and NFP sectors. Edel has held various senior executive 
positions as well as positions on various Boards as Director and extensive experience as 
Company Secretary.  
Consulting on Governance, Risk and Change Management, a Director of First Nations Health, 
Myanmar Atlantic Pearling Co., and Touchtile Pty Ltd. 

Special responsibilities Finance, Risk and Audit Committee 
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Meetings of directors 

The number of meetings of RAC’s Board of Directors ('the Board') held during the year ended 30 June 2024, and the 
number of meetings attended by each director were: 

Board Meetings 
Eligible Attended 

Marie Barbance 8 8 
Eric Egan 8 6 
Pamela Pederson 8 5 
Joanne Atkinson 3 3 
Neville Atkinson 3 2 
Suzanne Nelson 1 1 
Gregory James 5 5 
Cindy McGee 4 4 
Graham Briggs 2 2 

Indemnity and insurance of officers 

RAC has indemnified the directors and executives for costs incurred, in their capacity as a director or executive, for 
which they may be held personally liable, except where there is a lack of good faith. 

During the financial year, RAC paid a premium in respect of a contract to insure the directors and executives of RAC 
against a liability to the extent permitted by the Co-operatives National Law (Vic). The contract of insurance prohibits 
disclosure of the nature of the liability and the amount of the premium. 

Indemnity and insurance of auditor 

RAC has not, during or since the end of the financial year, indemnified or agreed to indemnify the auditor of RAC or 
any related entity against a liability incurred by the auditor. 

During the financial year, RAC has not paid a premium in respect of a contract to insure the auditor of RAC or any 
related entity. 

Proceedings on behalf of the co-operative 

No person has applied to the Court under Co-operatives National Law (Vic) for leave to bring proceedings on behalf 
of RAC, or to intervene in any proceedings to which RAC is a party for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf 
of RAC for all or part of those proceedings. 

Auditor’s independence declaration 

A copy of the auditor's independence declaration as required under Section 283 of Co-operatives National Law 
Application Act 2013 (Victoria) and Section 60-40 of the Australian Charities and Not for Profits Commission Act 2012 
is set out immediately after this directors' report. 

This report is made in accordance with a resolution of directors. 

On behalf of the directors 

Eric Egan 
Board member 

Marie Barbance  
Chairperson  

Dated this       day of November 2024 7th



 
 

 

 

RSM Australia Partners is a member of the RSM network and trades as RSM.  RSM is the trading name used by the 
members of the RSM network.  Each member of the RSM network is an independent accounting and consulting firm 
which practices in its own right.  The RSM network is not itself a separate legal entity in any jurisdiction. 
RSM Australia Partners ABN 36 965 185 036 
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation 
 
 

 

RSM Australia Partners 

12 Anderson Street West, Ballarat VIC 3350 
PO Box 685 Ballarat VIC 3353 

T +61 (0) 3 5330 5800 
F +61 (0) 3 5330 5890 

www.rsm.com.au 

AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION 
 

 

 

 

As lead auditor for the audit of the financial report of Rumbalara Aboriginal Co-operative Limited (standalone entity) 
for the year ended 30 June 2024, I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been no 
contraventions of: 

(i) the auditor independence requirements of the Co-operatives National Law Application Act 2013 and Division 60 
of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 in relation to the audit; and 

(ii) any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 

 

 
RSM AUSTRALIA PARTNERS 

 
JOHN FINDLAY 
Partner 

Ballarat, Victoria 
Dated this 7th day of November 2024 
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 Note 2024  2023 
  $  $ 
Core operations 2.1 38,300,142  31,965,879 
Other revenue 2.2 1,204,057  980,918 
Other income 2.3 1,247,517  439,097 
     
Employee benefits expense 3.1 (27,545,465)  (21,817,938) 
Operating expenses 3.2 (12,223,906)  (9,989,591) 
Finance costs 3.3 (57,465)  (55,932) 
Depreciation and amortisation 4.3 (1,638,488)  (1,676,816) 
(Deficit)/Surplus on disposal of property, plant and equipment  (21,634)  37,802 
(Deficit) before income tax expense  (735,242)  (116,581) 
Income tax expense  -  - 
(Deficit) after income tax expense  (735,242)  (116,581) 
     
Other comprehensive income:     
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss     
Gain on revaluation of property, plant and equipment, net of tax  18,630,907  - 
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax  18,630,907  - 
     
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR  17,895,665  (116,581) 
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Note 2024 2023 
$ $ 

ASSETS 
Current Assets 
Cash and cash equivalents 6.1 1,628,453 13,024,807 
Trade and other receivables 5.1 931,012 1,577,314 
Financial assets 4.4 22,290,594 14,263,521 
Other assets 5.2 24,904 40,270 
Total Current Assets 24,874,963 28,905,912 

Non-Current Assets 
Property, plant and equipment 4.1 45,894,023 25,919,427 
Right-of-use assets 4.2 1,189,354 1,117,317 
Intangible assets 4.5 163,518 - 
Trade and other receivables 5.1 401,388 - 
Total Non-Current Assets 47,648,283 27,036,744 
TOTAL ASSETS 72,523,246 55,942,656 

LIABILITIES 
Current Liabilities 
Trade and other payables 5.3 3,013,399 2,517,218 
Employee benefits 3.4 2,353,040 2,165,138 
Contract liabilities 5.4 19,380,623 21,525,945 
Lease liabilities 6.2 489,494 496,813 
Total Current Liabilities 25,236,556 26,705,114 

Non-Current Liabilities 
Employee benefits 3.4 435,651 368,733 
Lease liabilities 6.2 754,504 667,939 
Total Non-Current Liabilities 1,190,155 1,036,672 
TOTAL LIABILITIES 26,426,711 27,741,786 

NET ASSETS 46,096,535 28,200,870 

EQUITY 
Reserves 8.1 24,661,218 6,030,311 
Retained earnings 21,435,317 22,170,559 
TOTAL EQUITY 46,096,535 28,200,870 
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 Retained 
earnings 

Asset 
revaluation 

reserve 

Community 
support 

fund Total 
 $ $ $ $ 
2024     
Balance at 1 July 2023 22,170,559 5,030,311 1,000,000 28,200,870 
Deficit after income tax expense for the year (735,242) - - (735,242) 
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of 
tax - 18,630,907 - 18,630,907 

Balance at 30 June 2024 21,435,317 23,661,218 1,000,000 46,096,535 
     
2023     
Balance at 1 July 2022 (restated) 22,287,140 5,030,311 1,000,000 28,317,451 
Deficit after income tax expense for the year (116,581) - - (116,581) 
Balance at 30 June 2023 22,170,559 5,030,311 1,000,000 28,200,870 
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 Note 2024  2023 
  $  $ 
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES     
Receipts from grants and clients (including GST)  41,600,791  40,813,816 
Payments to suppliers and employees (including GST)  (41,867,681)  (35,022,761) 
Interest received  542,340  40,563 
Interest paid  (57,465)  (55,932) 
Net cash provided by operating activities  217,985  5,775,686 
     
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES     
Investment in term deposits  (8,027,073)  (10,745,453) 
Purchase of intangible assets  (93,983)  - 
Purchase of property plant and equipment  (2,503,191)  (1,881,778) 
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment   15,937  44,837 
Funds provided for intercompany loan  (401,388)  - 
Net cash used in investing activities  (11,009,698)  (12,582,394) 
     
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES     
Repayment of lease liabilities  (604,641)  (584,953) 
Net cash used in financing activities  (604,641)  (584,953) 
     
Net (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents held  (11,396,354)  (7,391,661) 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of financial year  13,024,807  20,416,468 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of financial year 6.1 1,628,453  13,024,807 
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Note 1 Summary of Material Accounting Policies 

The financial statements are for Rumbalara Aboriginal Co-Operative Ltd (“RAC”), a co-operative incorporated and 
domiciled in Australia. These are standalone financial statements of RAC. A separate consolidated financial report 
is also prepared for Rumbalara Aboriginal Co-Operative Ltd and its subsidiary.  

The material accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements are set out below. These 
policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated. When required by 
Accounting Standards, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to changes in presentation for the current 
financial year. 

New or amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations adopted 

RAC has adopted all of the new or amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian 
Accounting Standards Board ('AASB') that are mandatory for the current reporting period. 

Any new or amended Accounting Standards or Interpretations that are not yet mandatory have not been early 
adopted. 

Basis of preparation 

These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Australian Accounting 
Standards – Simplified Disclosures issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board ('AASB'), the Co-operatives 
National Law Application Act 2013 and the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012, as 
appropriate for not-for-profit oriented entities.  

The financial statements, except for the cash flow information, have been prepared on an accruals basis and are 
based on historical costs, modified, where applicable, by the measurement at fair value, of selected non-current 
assets, financial assets and financial liabilities.  

The amounts presented in the financial statements have been rounded to the nearest dollar and the functional and 
presentation currency of RAC is Australian dollars.  

The financial statements have also been prepared on a going concern basis. 

Critical accounting estimates 

The preparation of the financial statements requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires 
management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying RAC’s accounting policies. The areas involving a 
higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial 
statements, are disclosed in the relevant notes. 

a) Co-operative details 

The registered office and principal place of business are: 

Registered office    Principal place of business  

PO Box 614     20 Rumbalara Road 
Mooroopna Vic 3629   Mooroopna Vic 3629  

b) Goods and services tax (GST) 

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the amount of GST 
incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office (ATO). In these circumstances, the GST is 
recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of an item of expense. 

Receivables and payables in the statement of financial position are shown inclusive of GST. 

Cash flows are presented in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis, except for the GST components of 
investing and financing activities, which are disclosed as operating cash flows. 

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the 
ATO.  
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Note 1 Summary of Material Accounting Policies (cont.) 

c) Current and non-current classification 

Assets and liabilities are presented in the statement of financial position based on current and non-current 
classification. 

An asset is classified as current when: it is either expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in 
RAC’s normal operating cycle; it is held primarily for the purpose of trading; it is expected to be realised within 12 
months after the reporting period; or the asset is cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged 
or used to settle a liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period. All other assets are classified as non-
current. 

A liability is classified as current when: it is either expected to be settled in RAC’s normal operating cycle; it is 
held primarily for the purpose of trading; it is due to be settled within 12 months after the reporting period; or there 
is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period. All 
other liabilities are classified as non-current. 

d) Income tax 

RAC is exempt from income tax under Division 50 of the Income Tax Assessment Act 1997. 

e) Economic dependence 

RAC is dependent on the Victorian State Government and Australian Federal Government for the majority of its 
revenue. At the date of this report, the directors have no reason to believe the Victorian State Government and 
Australian Federal Government will not continue to support RAC. 
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Note 2 Funding Delivery of Our Services 

The principal activity of RAC during the financial year was the provision of health, wellbeing and social services to 
members of the Aboriginal Community in the Goulburn Valley Region.  

2.1: Core operations 
2.2: Other revenue 
2.3: Other income 

  2024  2023 
  $  $ 
Note 2.1: Core operations     
State/federal government grants (AASB 15)  32,617,733  26,470,756 
State/federal government grants (AASB 1058)  3,929,893  3,282,017 
State/federal government grants (AASB 1058 – Capital)  1,034,302  903,447 
Other government grants  34,109  266,037 
Aged care revenue  534,406  474,049 
Rental income  546,729  569,573 
Total core operations  38,300,142  31,965,879 
     
Note 2.2: Other revenue      
Medical revenue  1,174,226  772,223 
NDIS revenue  29,831  208,695 
Total other revenue  1,204,057  980,918 
Total revenue  39,504,199  32,946,797 
     
Note 2.3: Other income     
Donations  6,970  5,000 
Other income  310,046  150,279 
Interest income  930,501  283,818 
Total other income  1,247,517  439,097 
Total revenue and other income  40,751,716  33,385,894 
     
Disaggregation of revenue     
The disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers is as follows:    
     
Geographical regions     
Australia  34,937,074  28,761,333 
     
Timing of revenue recognition     
Over time  33,733,017  27,780,415 
At a point in time  1,204,057  980,918 
Total  34,937,074  28,761,333 
     

Revenue recognition 

All revenue is stated net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST). 

Revenue from contracts with customers 

Revenue is recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration to which RAC is expected to be entitled in 
exchange for transferring goods or services to a client in accordance with AASB 15.  

For each contract with a customer, RAC: 

1. identifies the contract with our clients; 
2. identifies the performance obligations in the contract; 
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3. determines the transaction price which takes into account estimates of variable consideration and the time value 
of money; 

4. allocates the transaction price to the separate performance obligations on the basis of the relative stand-alone 
selling price of each distinct good or service to be delivered; and 

5. recognises revenue when or as each performance obligation is satisfied in a manner that depicts the transfer to 
the client of the goods or services promised. 

Note 2 Funding Delivery of Our Services (cont.) 

Grants 

Grant revenue is recognised when RAC satisfies the performance obligations stated within the funding agreements 
and this is recognised as revenue in accordance with AASB 15.  

If conditions are attached to the grant which must be satisfied before RAC is eligible to retain the contribution, the 
grant will be recognised in the statement of financial position as a contract liability until those conditions are satisfied. 

Where no specific performance obligations are identified in the grant agreement income is recognised on receipt in 
accordance with AASB 1058. 

Service revenue 

Service revenue for medical clinics, aged care and NDIS is recognised once RAC satisfies the performance 
obligations and this is recognised as revenue in accordance with AASB 15. Revenue is recognised at a point in time 
which is after the requested service has been provided to our clients.  

Interest  

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest rate method, which for floating rate financial assets is the 
rate inherent in the instrument. 

Rental income 

Rental revenue is recognised over the period of the lease term as invoiced by RAC’s property managers.  

Donations 

Donations and bequests are recognised as revenue when received. 

Volunteer services 

RAC has elected not to recognise volunteer services as either revenue or other form of contribution received. As 
such, any related consumption or capitalisation of such resources received is also not recognised. 
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Note 3 The Cost of Delivering Our Services 

This section provides an account of the expenses incurred by RAC in providing key services. In Note 2, the funds 
that enable the provision of our services were disclosed and in this note the cost associated with provision of our 
services are recorded. 

3.1: Breakdown of employee benefits expenses 
3.2: Breakdown of operating expenses 
3.3: Finance costs  
3.4: Employee benefits in the statement of financial position 

  2024  2023 
  $  $ 
Note 3.1: Breakdown of employee benefits expenses     
Wages and salaries  24,157,158  19,655,896 
Superannuation  2,433,512  1,814,705 
Workcover expense  500,135  231,123 
Provision employee entitlements  265,937  (319,140) 
Portable long service leave  -  120,004 
Other employment costs  188,723  315,350 
Total employee benefits expenses  27,545,465  21,817,938 
     

Employee expenses include all costs related to employment including wages and salaries, temp staff, leave 
entitlements, related payroll taxes and recruitment costs.  

Contributions are made by RAC to an employee’s superannuation fund and are charged as expenses when incurred. 

Note 3.2: Breakdown of operating expenses     
Short-term and low value lease expenses  45,250  28,827 
Client services  6,227,069  5,010,479 
Elders expense  363,787  261,150 
Motor vehicle expenses  358,349  256,614 
Property expenses – commercial   1,341,552  192,451 
Property expenses – residential   368,453  122,852 
Office expenses  620,924  1,052,481 
ICT expenses  1,632,707  1,529,208 
Professional fees   611,332  452,549 
Repairs and maintenance   -  503,970 
Staff expenses   667,331  583,810 
Expected credit losses and bad debts  (12,848)  (4,800) 
Total operating expenses  12,223,906  9,989,591 
     

Other operating expenses generally represent the day-to-day running costs incurred in normal operations and are 
recognised as incurred. 

Note 3.3: Finance costs      
Finance fees  3,613  4,012 
Interest expense – leases  53,852  51,920 
Total finance costs  57,465  55,932 
     

Finance fees are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred. 

Interest expense is incurred on lease liabilities. Refer note 6.2 for further information.  
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Note 3 The Cost of Delivering Our Services (cont.) 

  2024  2023 
  $  $ 
Note 3.4: Employee benefits in the statement of financial position     
Current     
Provision for annual leave  1,370,921  1,259,534 
Provision for time in lieu  9,982  21,694 
Provision for long service leave  972,137  883,910 
Total current employee benefits  2,353,040  2,165,138 
     
Non-current     
Provision for long service leave  435,651  368,733 
     

Employee benefits recognition 

Provision is made for RAC’s liability for employee benefits arising from services rendered by employees to reporting 
date. These provisions are calculated under AASB 119 Employee Benefits. 

Short-term employee benefits 

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, annual leave and long service leave expected to 
be settled within 12 months of the reporting date are recognised in current liabilities in respect of employees' services 
up to the reporting date and are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. 

Other long-term employee benefits 

The liability for annual leave and long service leave not expected to be settled within 12 months of the reporting date 
are recognised in non-current liabilities, provided there is an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability. 
The liability is measured as the present value of expected future payments to be made in respect of services provided 
by employees up to the reporting date using the projected unit credit method. Consideration is given to expected 
future wage and salary levels, experience of employee departures and periods of service. Expected future payments 
are discounted using market yields at the reporting date on corporate bonds with terms to maturity and currency that 
match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows. 

Critical accounting estimates and judgments: Employee benefits 

As discussed above, the liability for employee benefits expected to be settled more than 12 months from the reporting 
date are recognised and measured at the present value of the estimated future cash flows to be made in respect of 
all employees at the reporting date. In determining the present value of the liability, estimates of attrition rates and 
pay increases through promotion and inflation have been taken into account.  
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Note 4 Key Assets to Support Service Delivery 

RAC controls infrastructure and other investments that are utilised in fulfilling our objectives and conducting our 
activities. They represent the key resources to be utilised for delivery of those outputs. 

4.1: Property, plant and equipment 
4.2: Right-of-use assets 
4.3: Depreciation and amortisation  
4.4: Financial assets 
4.5 : Intangible assets 

  2024  2023 
  $  $ 
Note 4.1: Property, plant and equipment     
Non-current     
Land     
Freehold land at valuation (2024)  15,780,000  - 
Freehold land at valuation (2018)  -  7,834,160 
Total land  15,780,000  7,834,160 
     
Buildings      
Buildings at valuation (2024)  28,585,000  - 
Buildings at valuation (2018)  -  22,528,077 
Less accumulated depreciation  -  (7,664,808) 
Total buildings  28,585,000  14,863,269 
Total land and buildings   44,365,000  22,697,429 
     
Plant and equipment      
Leasehold improvements at cost  150,628  59,879 
Less accumulated depreciation  (99,293)  (50,146) 
Total leasehold improvements   51,335  9,733 
     
Plant and equipment at cost  931,312  4,970,308 
Less accumulated depreciation  (629,862)  (4,208,040) 
Total plant and equipment  301,450  762,268 
     
Motor vehicles at cost  439,721  454,971 
Less accumulated depreciation  (357,789)  (371,028) 
Total motor vehicles  81,932  83,943 
     
ICT equipment at cost  1,137,736  1,689,300 
Less accumulated depreciation  (779,906)  (1,240,346) 
Total ICT equipment  357,830  448,954 
     
Fixtures, furniture and fittings at cost  799,702  927,192 
Less accumulated depreciation  (437,205)  (751,386) 
Total fixtures, furniture and fittings  362,497  175,806 
Total plant and equipment  1,155,044  1,480,704 
     
Work in progress at cost  373,979  1,741,294 
     
Total property, plant and equipment  45,894,023  25,919,427 
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N
ote 4 K

ey A
ssets to Support Service D

elivery (cont.) 

N
ote 4.1: Property, plant and equipm

ent (cont.) 

M
ovem

ents in carrying am
ounts 

M
ovem

ent in the carrying am
ounts for each class of property, plant and equipm

ent betw
een the beginning and the end of the current financial year is set out below

: 

 
Freehold 

land 
B

uildings 
Leasehold 

im
provem

ents 
Plant and 

equipm
ent 

M
otor 

vehicles 
IC

T 
equipm

ent 

Fixtures, 
furniture 

and fittings 
W

ork in 
progress 

Total 
 

$ 
$ 

$ 
$ 

$ 
$ 

$ 
$ 

$ 
2024 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
Balance at 1 July 2023 

7,834,160 
14,863,269 

9,733 
762,268 

83,943 
448,954 

175,806 
1,741,294 

25,919,427 
Additions 

- 
- 

4,112 
200,668 

18,586 
193,528 

301,451 
1,784,846 

2,503,191 
Transfers to intangible assets 

- 
- 

- 
(2,961) 

- 
(121,650) 

- 
- 

(124,611) 
Transfers betw

een asset classes 
- 

(8,399) 
8,399 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

Transfers on revaluation 
- 

1,300,948 
(8,587) 

(1,176,293) 
- 

(41,155) 
(74,913) 

- 
- 

Transfers from
 W

IP 
62,000 

2,282,314 
45,514 

678,387 
- 

40,476 
17,712 

(3,126,403) 
- 

R
evaluations 

7,883,840 
10,747,067 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

18,630,907 
Expensed 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
(25,758) 

(25,758) 
D

isposals (net) 
- 

- 
- 

(36,570) 
(687) 

(314) 
- 

- 
(37,571) 

D
epreciation expense 

- 
(600,199) 

(7,836) 
(124,049) 

(19,910) 
(162,009) 

(57,559) 
- 

(971,562) 
B

alance at 30 June 2024 
15,780,000 

28,585,000 
51,335 

301,450 
81,932 

357,830 
362,497 

373,979 
45,894,023 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Land and buildings carried at valuation 

The freehold land and buildings w
ere last independently valued at 30 June 2024 by Acum

entis.  

C
aveats over land and buildings 

N
um

erous properties in the nam
e of R

AC
 have caveats over the title in the nam

e of the various governm
ent bodies that assisted w

ith the funding for their acquisition. 
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Note 4 Key Assets to Support Service Delivery (cont.) 

Note 4.1: Property, plant and equipment (cont.) 

Property, plant and equipment recognition 

Each class of property, plant and equipment is carried at cost or fair value less, where applicable any accumulated 
depreciation and impairment. 

Class of fixed asset Method  
Land Fair value 
Buildings Fair value   
Leasehold improvements Cost 
Plant and equipment Cost 
Motor vehicles Cost 
ICT equipment Cost 
Fixtures, furniture and fittings Cost 
Work in progress Cost 

Land and buildings are shown at fair value, based on periodic, at least every 5 years, valuations by external 
independent valuers, less subsequent depreciation and impairment for buildings. The valuations are undertaken 
more frequently if there is a material change in the fair value relative to the carrying amount. Any accumulated 
depreciation at the date of revaluation is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset and the net amount 
is restated to the revalued amount of the asset. Increases in the carrying amounts arising on revaluation of land and 
buildings are credited in other comprehensive income through to the revaluation reserve in equity. Any revaluation 
decrements are initially taken in other comprehensive income through to the revaluation surplus reserve to the extent 
of any previous revaluation surplus of the same asset. Thereafter the decrements are taken to the net result.  

Plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment. Historical cost 
includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. 

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when there is no future economic benefit 
to RAC. Gains and losses between the carrying amount and the disposal proceeds are taken to the net result. Any 
revaluation surplus reserve relating to the item disposed of is transferred directly to retained earnings.  

Impairment of assets 

At each reporting date, RAC assesses the carrying values of its tangible and intangible assets to determine whether 
there is any indication that those assets have been impaired. The assessment will include considering external 
sources of information. If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount of the assets, being the higher of the 
asset's fair value less costs to sell and value in use, is compared to the asset's carrying value. Any excess of the 
asset's carrying value over its recoverable amount is expensed to the statement of comprehensive income. 

Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, RAC estimates the recoverable 
amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. 
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Note 4 Key Assets to Support Service Delivery (cont.) 

  2024  2023 
  $  $ 
Note 4.2: Right-of-use assets     
     
Gross carrying amount and accumulated depreciation     
Non-current     
Property – at cost  694,467  468,612 
Less accumulated depreciation  (174,776)  (104,726) 
Total property right-of-use assets  519,691  363,886 
     
Motor vehicle – at cost  1,889,257  1,790,009 
Less accumulated depreciation  (1,219,594)  (1,036,578) 
Total motor vehicles right-of-use assets  669,663  753,431 
Total right-of-use assets  1,189,354  1,117,317 
     
Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of each class of asset     

 Property 
Motor 

vehicles Total 
 $ $ $ 
Year ended 30 June 2024    
Balance at the beginning of year 363,886 753,431 1,117,317 
Remeasurement of right-of-use asset 3,588 26,209 29,797 
Additions 222,266 440,825 663,091 
Disposals - (9,001) (9,001) 
Depreciation expense (70,049) (541,801) (611,850) 
Balance at the end of the year 519,691 669,663 1,189,354 
    

Right-of-use asset recognition 

A right-of-use asset is recognised at the commencement date of a lease as required by AASB 16 Leases. The right-
of-use asset is measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability, adjusted for, as applicable, 
any lease payments made at or before the commencement date net of any lease incentives received, any initial direct 
costs incurred, and, except where included in the cost of inventories, an estimate of costs expected to be incurred 
for dismantling and removing the underlying asset, and restoring the site or asset. 

RAC has elected not to recognise a right-of-use asset and corresponding lease liability for short-term leases with 
terms of 12 months or less and leases of low-value assets. Lease payments on these assets are expensed as 
incurred. Refer note 3.2 for further details.  
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Note 4 Key Assets to Support Service Delivery (cont.) 

  2024  2023 
  $  $ 
Note 4.3: Depreciation and amortisation     
Property, plant and equipment (note 4.1)  971,562  1,080,675 
Right of use assets (note 4.2)  611,850  596,141 
Intangible assets (note 4.5)  55,076  - 
Total depreciation and amortisation  1,638,488  1,676,816 
     

Depreciation and amortisation recognition 

Property, plant and equipment, excluding freehold land, is depreciated on either a straight-line or diminishing value 
basis over the assets’ useful life to RAC, commencing when the asset is ready for use. 

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the unexpired period of the lease or the estimated 
useful life of the asset, whichever is the shorter. Where RAC expects to obtain ownership of the leased asset at the 
end of the lease term, the depreciation is over its estimated useful life. Right-of use assets are subject to impairment 
or adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. 

Intangible software assets are amortised over its estimated useful life 

The depreciation and amortisation rates used for each class of asset are shown below: 

Class of fixed asset Method Depreciation rate 
Buildings Straight-line 2.5% – 3% 

Leasehold improvements Straight-line 
Diminishing value 5% – 15%   

Plant and equipment Straight-line 
Diminishing value 1% – 35% 

Motor vehicles Straight-line 
Diminishing value 1% – 20% 

ICT equipment Straight-line 
Diminishing value 5% – 45% 

Fixtures, furniture and fittings Straight-line 
Diminishing value 5% – 30% 

Software Straight-line 10% – 33% 
Right-of-use – property Straight-line 11% – 20% 
Right-of-use – motor vehicles Straight-line 20% – 33% 

At the end of each annual reporting period, the depreciation and/or amortisation method, useful life and residual 
value of each asset is reviewed.  

Critical accounting estimates and judgments: Estimation of useful lives of assets 

RAC determines the estimated useful lives and related depreciation and amortisation charges for its property, plant 
and equipment and finite life intangible assets. The useful lives could change significantly as a result of technical 
innovations or some other event. The depreciation charge will increase where the useful lives are less than previously 
estimated lives, or technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been abandoned or sold will be written off 
or written down. 

Note 4.4: Financial assets     
Current     
Term deposits with maturity > 90 days  22,290,594  14,263,521 
Total financial assets  22,290,594  14,263,521 
     

Refer Note 7.1 for details on recognition accounting policy in relation to financial assets. 
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Note 4 Key Assets to Support Service Delivery (cont.) 

 2024  2023 
 $  $ 
Note 4.5: Intangible assets    
Non-current    
Software (at cost) 294,621  - 
Less accumulated amortisation (131,103)  - 
Total intangible assets  163,518  - 
    
 Intangibles Total 
 $ $ 
2024   
Balance at 1 July 2023 - - 
Additions 93,984 93,984 
Transfers from property, plant and equipment 124,610 124,610 
Amortisation (55,076) (55,076) 
Balance at 30 June 2024 163,518 163,518 
    

Intangible assets recognition 

Software is measured on the cost basis and are therefore carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and any 
accumulated impairment losses.  

Impairment of non-financial assets  

Non-financial assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 
carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset's 
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. 

Recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's fair value less costs of disposal and value-in-use. The value-in-use 
is the present value of the estimated future cash flows relating to the asset using a pre-tax discount rate specific to 
the asset or cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. Assets that do not have independent cash flows are 
grouped together to form a cash-generating unit. 
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Note 5 Other Assets and Liabilities   

This section sets out those assets and liabilities that arose from RAC’s operations. 

5.1 : Trade and other receivables  
5.2: Other assets  
5.3 : Trade and other payables 
5.4: Contract liabilities 

  2024  2023 
  $  $ 
Note 5.1: Trade and other receivables     
Current     
Trade receivables  335,447  1,366,895 
Provision for expected credit losses  (36,852)  (49,700) 
Accrued income  -  15,277 
Accrued interest  631,416  243,255 
Other  1,001  1,587 
Total current trade and other receivables  931,012  1,577,314 
     
Non-current     
Related party receivables – Rumbalara Housing Ltd  401,388  - 
Total non-current trade and other receivables  401,388  - 
Total trade and other receivables  1,332,400  1,577,314 
     

Receivables recognition 

Trade receivables are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method, less any allowance for expected credit losses. Trade receivables are generally due for 
settlement within 30 days. 

Other receivables are recognised at amortised cost, less any allowance for expected credit losses. 

RAC has applied the simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses, which uses a lifetime expected loss 
allowance. To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables have been grouped based on days overdue. 

Note 5.2: Other assets     
Current     
Security bond  13,389  15,950 
Prepayments  11,515  24,320 
Total other assets  24,904  40,270 
     

Other assets recognition 

Other assets include prepayments which represent payments in advance of receipt of goods or services or that part 
of expenses made in one accounting period covering a term extending beyond that period. 

Security bonds are held on account for leases.  
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Note 5 Other Assets and Liabilities (cont.) 

  2024  2023 
  $  $ 
Note 5.3: Trade and other payables     
Current     
Trade payables  1,411,430  534,999 
Other accrued expenses  392,707  234,475 
GST payable  314,002  609,346 
FBT payable  22,062  27,222 
PAYG withholding payable  581,568  422,038 
Wages and superannuation payable/accrued  101,683  512,380 
LSL portability payable  43,325  30,241 
Credit card payable  6,087  16,512 
Other payables  140,535  130,005 
Total trade and other payables  3,013,399  2,517,218 
     

Payables recognition 

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to RAC prior to the end of the financial year and 
which are unpaid. Due to their short-term nature, they are measured at amortised cost and are not discounted. The 
amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition. 

Note 5.4: Contract liabilities     
Current     
Community aged care packages received in advance  15,008  286,480 
Grant funding received in advance   19,365,615  21,239,465 
Total contract liabilities   19,380,623  21,525,945 
     

Contract liabilities recognition 

Contract liabilities represent RAC’s obligation to transfer services to a client/funding body that are recognised when 
a client/funding body pays consideration, or when RAC recognises a receivable to reflect the unconditional right to 
consideration (whichever is earlier), before RAC has transferred the services to the client/funding body. 

This funding has been deferred in accordance with the requirements of AASB 15 and AASB 1058 (capital grants) as 
funding received for specific programs but has yet to be spent. These funds will be spent in accordance with the 
grant agreements over future financial years. 
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Note 6 How We Finance Our Operations    

This section provides information on the sources of finance utilised by RAC during its operations, along with other 
information related to financing activities of RAC.  

This section includes disclosures of balances that are financial instruments.  

6.1: Cash and cash equivalents 
6.2: Lease liabilities 
6.3: Capital and leasing commitments 

  2024  2023 
  $  $ 
Note 6.1: Cash and cash equivalents     
Current     
Cash at bank  1,620,403  13,017,257 
Cash on hand  8,050  7,550 
Total cash and cash equivalents   1,628,453  13,024,807 
     

Cash and cash equivalents recognition 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand along with deposits held at call and short-term 
deposits maturing within three months.  

Note 6.2: Lease liabilities     
Current     
Lease liabilities – property  77,349  56,687 
Lease liabilities – motor vehicles  412,145  440,126 
Total current lease liabilities  489,494  496,813 
     
Non-current     
Lease liabilities – property  476,209  332,203 
Lease liabilities – motor vehicles  278,295  335,736 
Total non-current lease liabilities  754,504  667,939 
Total lease liabilities   1,243,998  1,164,752 
     
Maturity analysis of future lease payments (undiscounted)     
Not later than one year  540,009  532,327 
Later than one year and not later than 5 years  647,476  568,851 
Greater than 5 years  199,177  118,612 
Total  1,386,662  1,219,790 
     

Lease liabilities recognition 

A lease liability is recognised at the commencement date of a lease as required by AASB 16 Leases. The lease 
liability is initially recognised at the present value of the lease payments to be made over the term of the lease, 
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, RAC’s incremental 
borrowing rate.  

Lease payments comprise of fixed payments less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that 
depend on an index or a rate, amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees, exercise price of a 
purchase option when the exercise of the option is reasonably certain to occur, and any anticipated termination 
penalties. The variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are expensed in the period in which 
they are incurred.  
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Note 6 How We Finance Our Operations (cont.)   

Note 6.2: Lease liabilities (cont.) 

Lease liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The carrying amounts are 
remeasured if there is a change in the following: 

 future lease payments arising from a change in an index or a rate used; 

 residual guarantee; 

 lease term; 

 certainty of a purchase option; and 

 termination penalties. 

When a lease liability is remeasured, an adjustment is made to the corresponding right-of use asset, or to the net 
result if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset is fully written down. 

RAC has also applied the peppercorn lease practical expedient for its lease of part of the premises of the former 
Mooroopna Secondary College. The lease is for an initial 3 years with one further option of 2 years. Rent is payable 
at $1 per annum and is payable in the commencement date and each successive anniversary. The lease commenced 
on 12 March 2024. 

Critical accounting estimates and judgments: Lease term 

The lease term is a significant component in the measurement of both the right-of-use asset and lease liability. 
Judgement is exercised in determining whether there is reasonable certainty that an option to extend the lease or 
purchase the underlying asset will be exercised, or an option to terminate the lease will not be exercised, when 
ascertaining the periods to be included in the lease term. In determining the lease term, all facts and circumstances 
that create an economical incentive to exercise an extension option, or not to exercise a termination option, are 
considered at the lease commencement date. Factors considered may include: 

 the importance of the asset to RAC’s operations; 

 comparison of terms and conditions to prevailing market rates; 

 incurrence of significant penalties; 

 existence of significant leasehold improvements; and 

 the costs and disruption to replace the asset. 

RAC reassesses whether it is reasonably certain to exercise an extension option, or not exercise a termination option, 
if there is a significant event or significant change in circumstances. 

Critical accounting estimates and judgments: Incremental borrowing rate 

Where the interest rate implicit in a lease cannot be readily determined, an incremental borrowing rate is estimated 
to discount future lease payments to measure the present value of the lease liability at the lease commencement 
date. Such a rate is based on what RAC estimates it would have to pay a third party to borrow the funds necessary 
to obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use asset, with similar terms, security and economic environment. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



RUMBALARA ABORIGINAL CO-OPERATIVE LTD 

ABN 84 530 647 942  

Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the year ended 30 June 2024 

26 

Note 6 How We Finance Our Operations (cont.)   

Note 6.3: Capital and leasing commitments 

a) Operating lease commitments 

If leases are categorised as either low value or short-term leases management have elected to apply the practical 
expedients in relation to these leases, and as such these leases are accounted on a straight-line basis in the net 
result.  

Where management is in the process of negotiating new lease agreements these have not been disclosed as an 
operating lease commitment as they were not committed at balance date. These leases become short-term leases 
with month-to-month tenancy until a new lease is formalised.   

There were no material operating lease commitments to disclose as at 30 June 2024 (2023: Nil).  

  2024  2023 
  $  $ 
b) Capital expenditure commitments     
Capital expenditure commitments contracted:     
Capital commitments  18,406  - 
Total capital commitments  18,406  - 
     
The commitments are expected to be incurred:     

Not later than one year  18,406  - 
Total  18,406  - 
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Note 7 Risks, Contingencies and Valuation Uncertainties 

RAC is exposed to risk from its activities and outside factors. In addition, it is often necessary to make judgements 
and estimates associated with recognition and measurement of items in the financial statements. This section sets 
out financial instrument specific information, as well as those items that are contingent in nature or require a higher 
level of judgement to be applied, which for RAC is related mainly to fair value determination. 

7.1: Financial instruments   
7.2: Contingent assets and contingent liabilities 
7.3: Fair value measurement 

Note 7.1: Financial instruments 

Financial instruments arise out of agreements that give rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability 
or equity instrument of another entity. RAC applies AASB 9 and classifies all of its financial assets based on the 
business model for managing the assets and the asset’s contractual terms.  

Financial assets at amortised cost 

Financial assets are measured at amortised costs if both of the following criteria are met and the assets are not 
designated as fair value through net result: 

 the assets are held by RAC to collect the contractual cash flows; and 

 the assets’ contractual terms give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest. 

These assets are initially recognised at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs and subsequently 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method less any impairment.  

RAC recognises the following assets in this category: 

 cash and cash equivalents; 

 term deposits;  

 loans receivable; and  

 trade and other receivables.

Categories of financial liabilities  

Financial liabilities at amortised cost 

Financial liabilities at amortised cost are initially recognised on the date they are originated. They are initially 
measured at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, these financial 
instruments are measured at amortised cost with any difference between the initial recognised amount and the 
redemption value being recognised in net results over the period of the interest-bearing liability, using the effective 
interest rate method.  

RAC recognises the following liabilities in this category: 

 payables; and 

 lease liabilities.

Derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities  

Financial assets 

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is 
derecognised when:  

 the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or 

 RAC retains the right to receive cash flows from the asset, but has assumed an obligation to pay them in full 
without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass through’ arrangement; or 
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Note 7 Risks, Contingencies and Valuation Uncertainties (cont.) 

Note 7.1: Financial instruments (cont.) 

 RAC has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset and either: 

o has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset; or 

o has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset but has transferred 
control of the asset. 

Where RAC has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards or transferred control, the 
asset is recognised to the extent of RAC’s continuing involvement in the asset. 

Financial liabilities  

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or expires. 

Note 7.2: Contingent assets and contingent liabilities 

There are no other known contingent assets or contingent liabilities for RAC as at 30 June 2024 (2023: Nil). 

Note 7.3: Fair value measurement 

When an asset or liability, financial or non-financial, is measured at fair value for recognition or disclosure purposes, 
the fair value is based on the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date; and assumes that the transaction will take place 
either: in the principal market; or in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market. 

Fair value is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, 
assuming they act in their economic best interests. For non-financial assets, the fair value measurement is based on 
its highest and best use. Valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data 
are available to measure fair value, are used, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the 
use of unobservable inputs. 

Assets and liabilities measured at fair value are classified into three levels, using a fair value hierarchy that reflects 
the significance of the inputs used in making the measurements. Classifications are reviewed at each reporting date 
and transfers between levels are determined based on a reassessment of the lowest level of input that is significant 
to the fair value measurement. 

RAC measures land and buildings at fair value on a recurring basis.  

The following tables detail RAC’s assets and liabilities, measured or disclosed at fair value, using a three level 
hierarchy, based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the entire fair value measurement, being: 

Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at 
the measurement date. 

Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either 
directly or indirectly. 

Level 3: Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. 

For recurring and non-recurring fair value measurements, external valuers may be used when internal expertise is 
either not available or when the valuation is deemed to be significant. External valuers are selected based on market 
knowledge and reputation. Where there is a significant change in fair value of an asset or liability from one period to 
another, an analysis is undertaken, which includes a verification of the major inputs applied in the latest valuation 
and a comparison, where applicable, with external sources of data. 
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Note 7 Risks, Contingencies and Valuation Uncertainties (cont.) 

Note 7.3: Fair value measurement (cont.) 

Fair value hierarchy 

The table below shows the assigned level for each asset held at fair value: 

 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
 $ $ $ $ 
2024     
Assets     

Land and buildings - 28,805,000 15,560,000 44,365,000 
Total assets - 28,805,000 15,560,000 44,365,000 
     

There were no transfers between levels during the financial year. 
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Note 8 Other Disclosures 

This section includes additional material disclosures required by accounting standards or otherwise, for the 
understanding of this financial report. 

8.1: Equity – reserves  
8.2: Key management personnel compensation 
8.3: Related parties 
8.4: Remuneration of auditors 
8.5: Events occurring after the reporting date 

  2024  2023 
  $  $ 
Note 8.1: Equity – reserves      
a) Community support fund reserve     
Opening balance  1,000,000  1,000,000 
Total community support fund reserve   1,000,000  1,000,000 

     
The fund was established in 2017 to provide the board of RAC with the opportunity to make one off contributions to 
the community to assist our members in time of need. 

b) Asset revaluation reserve     
Opening balance  5,030,311  5,030,311 
Revaluation increment, net of tax  18,630,907  - 
Total asset revaluation reserve  23,661,218  5,030,311 
Total reserves  24,661,218  6,030,311 
     

The reserve is used to recognise increments and decrements in the fair value of land and buildings. 

Note 8.2: Key management personnel compensation 

Any persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of RAC, directly 
or indirectly, is considered key management personnel. For RAC this includes directors and the executive 
management team.  

The aggregate compensation made to key management personnel of RAC is set out below: 

Aggregate compensation  2,195,317  2,316,891 
     

Note 8.3: Related parties  

Key management personnel 

Disclosures relating to key management personnel are set out in note 8.2. 

Transactions with related parties 

On the establishment of RAC’s subsidiary, RHL, RAC entered into a loan agreement with RHL. RAC incurred 
transactions on behalf of RHL which was subsequently transferred to the loan account at balance date.  

There were no other material transactions with related parties during the current and previous financial year. 

Receivable from and payable to related parties 

There were no trade receivables from or trade payables to related parties at the current and previous reporting date. 

Loans to/from related parties 

The loan is unsecured in nature and no interest was charged on the loan during the 2024 financial year.  

Outstanding loan receivable at 30 June     
Rumbalara Housing Ltd  401,388  - 
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Note 8 Other Disclosures (cont.) 

Note 8.4: Remuneration of auditors 

During the financial year the following fees were paid or payable for services provided by RSM Australia Partners, 
the auditor of RAC: 

  2024  2023 
  $  $ 
Audit services     
Audit of the financial statements   139,000  117,355 
     
Other services – RSM Australia     
Other accounting services  8,000  6,100 
Other  10,369  10,345 
Total remuneration of auditors  150,000  133,800 
     

Note 8.5: Events occurring after the reporting date 

No other matter or circumstance has arisen since 30 June 2024 that has significantly affected, or may significantly 
affect RAC’s operations, the results of those operations, or RAC’s state of affairs in future financial years.
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In the directors' opinion: 

 the attached financial statements and notes comply with the Co-operatives National Law Application Act 2013,
the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 and associated regulations, the Australian
Accounting Standards – Simplified Disclosures and other mandatory professional reporting requirements;

 the attached financial statements and notes give a true and fair view of the co-operatives financial position as at
30 June 2024 and of its performance for the financial year ended on that date; and

 there are reasonable grounds to believe that the co-operative will be able to pay its debts as and when they
become due and payable.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of directors. 

On behalf of the directors 

Eric Egan 
Board member 

Marie Barbance  
Chairperson  

Dated this       day of November 2024 7th
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT  
To the Members of Rumbalara Aboriginal Co-operative 
Limited 

 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial report of Rumbalara Aboriginal Co-operative Limited as a standalone entity, which 
comprises the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2024, the statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income, the statement of changes in equity and the statement of cash flows for the year then ended, 
and notes to the financial statements, including material accounting policy information, and the directors' declaration.  

In our opinion, the financial report of Rumbalara Aboriginal Co-operative Limited has been prepared in accordance 
with the Co-operatives National Law Application Act 2013 and Division 60 of the Australian Charities and Not-for-
profits Commission Act 2012 (ACNC Act), including: 

(a) giving a true and fair view of the co-operative’s financial position as at 30 June 2024 and of its financial 
performance and cash flows for the year then ended; and  

(b) complying with Australian Accounting Standards – Simplified Disclosures and Division 60 of the Australian 
Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Regulation 2022. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those standards 
are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section of our report. We 
are independent of Rumbalara Aboriginal Co-operative Limited in accordance with the ethical requirements of the 
Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board's APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the 
Code) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with the Code.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Other Information  

Those charged with governance are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 
information included in Rumbalara Aboriginal Co-operative Limited's annual report for the year ended 30 June 2024, 
but does not include the financial report and the auditor's report thereon.  

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we do not express any form 
of assurance conclusion thereon.  

In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, 
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial report or our knowledge obtained 
in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, 
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.  
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Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Report 

The directors of the co-operative are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair 
view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards – Simplified Disclosures, the Co-operatives National Law 
Application Act 2013 and the ACNC Act, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to 
enable the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing Rumbalara Aboriginal Co-operative 
Limited's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using 
the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate Rumbalara Aboriginal Co-
operative Limited or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.  

The directors are responsible for overseeing the co-operative’s financial reporting process. 

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the 
Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise 
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected 
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.  

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial report is located at the Auditing and Assurance 
Standards Board website at: http://www.auasb.gov.au/Home.aspx. This description forms part of our auditor's report. 

Independence  

We confirm that the independence declaration required by the ACNC Act, which has been given to the responsible 
entities of Rumbalara Aboriginal Co-operative Limited, would be in the same terms if given to the responsible entities 
as at the time of this auditor’s report. 

 

 
RSM AUSTRALIA PARTNERS 

 
JOHN FINDLAY 
Partner 

Ballarat, Victoria 
Dated this 7th day of November 2024 
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The directors present their report, together with the financial statements of Rumbalara Housing Ltd (“RHL”) for the 
period 12 July 2023 to 30 June 2024. 

RHL was established as a subsidiary of parent entity Rumbalara Aboriginal Co-operative Ltd on 12 July 2023. 

Directors 

The following persons were directors of RHL during the whole of the financial period and up to the date of this report, 
unless otherwise stated: 

Eric Egan 
Marie Barbance 
Edel Conroy (Appointed 20 March 2024) 
Gregory James (Resigned 16 February 2024) 

Review of operations 

The deficit of RHL after providing for income tax amounted to $49,435. 

Objectives 

Deliver on Social Housing Growth Fund Projects on time and within budget. Management of Community Housing 
and asset management leased from RAC. 

Strategy to achieving our objectives  

Establish a memorandum of understanding for tenancy and management of leased housing from RAC, increase 
community rated housing stock.  

Principal activities and objectives 

RHL is a not-for-profit charitable organization. 

The principal purpose of RHL is to provide benevolent relief to people in need by providing affordable housing and 
associated services. 

No significant changes in the nature of RHL’s activities occurred during the financial period. 

Information on directors 

Eric Egan Chairperson 
Experience and expertise Hume Region Department of Justice, 3 years; Employed at MADEC, 6 years; Currently 

employed by Vic. Police; Dhelk Dja (previously IFVRAG), 8 years; Campaspe Shire Youth 
Services Network Committee, 6 years; Marrung Wurreker (Education), 5 years; Aboriginal 
Workforce Development Strategy Group (Employment) 3.6 years; GOTAFE Aboriginal 
Community Advisory Committee; Previously a Hume RAJAC and Shepparton LAJAC member. 

  
Marie Barbance Board Member 
Qualifications Certified OHS Practitioner; Diploma in OHS; Cert IV in OHS; Cert IV in Training and Assessment 
Experience and expertise 28+ years in the Health Industry Nursing and Educator/ facilitation; 4 years Rumbalara Aboriginal 

Co-operative; Currently employed by City of Greater Shepparton Director Aboriginal 
Advancement League, 3 years; Director of the Torch Programme, and Currently on Rumbalara 
Board of Directors since October 2020. 

Special responsibilities Finance, Risk and Audit Committee 
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Information on directors (cont.) 

Edel Conroy Board Member 
Qualifications Bachelor of Commerce; Member of the Australian Institute of Company Directors; Agile Lead 

Auditor  
Experience and expertise Highly skilled, experienced finance, risk and governance executive with over 25 years’ 

experience across the private, public and NFP sectors. Edel has held various senior executive 
positions as well as positions on various Boards as Director and extensive experience as 
Company Secretary. 
Consulting on Governance, Risk and Change Management, a Director of First Nations Health, 
Myanmar Atlantic Pearling Co., and Touchtile Pty Ltd.  

Special responsibilities Finance, Risk and Audit Committee 
  
Gregory James Chairperson  
Qualifications Diploma of Teaching, Diploma of Teaching Technology, Councillor City of Greater Shepparton, 

Builder, Justic of the Peace 
Experience and expertise Board of Director 5 years at Rumbalara, Councillor with City of Greater Shepparton 3 years. 

Company secretary 

Edel Conroy has held the role of RHL’s secretary since inception on 12 July 2023. 

Edel Conroy Company Secretary 
Qualifications Bachelor of Commerce; Member of the Australian Institute of Company Directors 
Experience and expertise Highly skilled, experienced finance, risk and governance executive with over 25 years’ 

experience across the private, public and NFP sectors. Edel has held various senior executive 
positions as well as positions on various Boards as Director and extensive experience as 
Company Secretary.  
Consulting on Governance, Risk and Change Management, a Director of First Nations Health, 
Myanmar Atlantic Pearling Co., and Touchtile Pty Ltd. 

Special responsibilities Finance, Risk and Audit Committee 

Meetings of directors 

The number of meetings of RHL’s Board of Directors ('the Board') held during the period ended 30 June 2024, and 
the number of meetings attended by each director were: 

 Board Meetings 
 Eligible Attended 
Eric Egan 4 4 
Marie Barbance 4 4 
Edel Conroy 3 3 
Gregory James 1 1 

Matters subsequent to the end of the financial period 

The company received instalments of grant funding of $652,586 from Homes Victoria in August – September 2024 
towards the Social Housing Growth Fund.  

No other matter or circumstance has arisen since 30 June 2024 that has significantly affected, or may significantly 
affect RHL’s operations, the results of those operations, or RHL’s state of affairs in future financial years. 

Contributions on winding up 

In the event of the company being wound up, ordinary members are required to contribute a maximum of $10 each.  

The total amount that members of the company are liable to contribute if the company is wound up is $10, based on 
1 current ordinary member which is Rumbalara Aboriginal Co-operative Ltd. 
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Auditor’s independence declaration 

A copy of the auditor's independence declaration as required under Section 60-40 of the Australian Charities and 
Not for Profits Commission Act 2012 is set out immediately after this directors' report. 

This report is made in accordance with a resolution of directors. 

On behalf of the directors 

Eric Egan Marie Barbance 
Chairperson Board member 

Dated this day of November 2024 7th
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AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION 
 

 

 

 

As lead auditor for the audit of the financial report of Rumbalara Housing Limited for the period ended 30 June 2024, 
I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been no contraventions of: 

(i) the auditor independence requirements of the Division 60 of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits 
Commission Act 2012 in relation to the audit; and 

(ii) any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 

 

 
RSM AUSTRALIA PARTNERS 

 
JOHN FINDLAY 
Partner 

Ballarat, Victoria 
Dated this 7th day of November 2024 
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Note 2024 
$ 

Operating expenses 2.1 (49,435) 
(Deficit) before income tax expense (49,435) 
Income tax expense - 
(Deficit) after income tax expense (49,435) 

Other comprehensive income for the period, net of tax - 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD (49,435) 
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Note 2024 
$ 

ASSETS 
Current Assets 
Other assets 4.1 5,500 
Total Current Assets 5,500 

Non-Current Assets 
Property, plant and equipment 3.1 346,453 
Total Non-Current Assets 346,453 
TOTAL ASSETS 351,953 

LIABILITIES 
Current Liabilities 
Borrowings 5.1 401,388 
Total Current Liabilities 401,388 

Non-Current Liabilities 
Total Non-Current Liabilities - 
TOTAL LIABILITIES 401,388 

NET ASSETS (49,435) 

EQUITY 
Retained losses 7.1 (49,435) 
TOTAL EQUITY (49,435) 
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 Retained losses Total 
 $ $ 
2024   
Balance at 12 July 2023 - - 
(Deficit) after income tax expense for the period (49,435) (49,435) 
Balance at 30 June 2024 (49,435) (49,435) 
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  2024 
  $ 
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES   
Payments to suppliers and employees (including GST)  (54,935) 
Net cash used in operating activities  (54,935) 
   
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES   
Purchase of property plant and equipment  (346,453) 
Net cash used in investing activities  (346,453) 
   
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES   
Proceeds from borrowings  401,388 
Net cash provided by financing activities  401,388 
   
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents held  - 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of financial period  - 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of financial period  - 
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Note 1 Summary of Material Accounting Policies 

The financial statements are for Rumbalara Housing Ltd (“RHL”), a company incorporated and domiciled in Australia. 
Rumbalara Housing Ltd is a company limited by guarantee that was established on 12 July 2023. 

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the board of directors on 7 November 2024. 

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements are set out below.  

New or amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations adopted 

The company has adopted all of the new or amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the 
Australian Accounting Standards Board ('AASB') that are mandatory for the current reporting period. 

Any new or amended Accounting Standards or Interpretations that are not yet mandatory have not been early 
adopted. 

Basis of preparation 

These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Australian Accounting 
Standards – Simplified Disclosures issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board ('AASB') and the Australian 
Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012, as appropriate for not-for-profit oriented entities.  

The financial statements, except for the cash flow information, have been prepared on an accruals basis and are 
based on historical costs, modified, where applicable, by the measurement at fair value, of selected non-current 
assets, financial assets and financial liabilities.  

The amounts presented in the financial statements have been rounded to the nearest dollar and the functional and 
presentation currency of the company is Australian dollars.  

Critical accounting estimates 

The preparation of the financial statements requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires 
management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the company’s accounting policies. The areas 
involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to 
the financial statements, are disclosed in the relevant notes. 

a) Company details 

The registered office and principal place of business are: 

Registered office    Principal place of business  

PO Box 614     20 Rumbalara Road 
Mooroopna Vic 3629   Mooroopna Vic 3629  

b) Goods and services tax (GST) 

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the amount of GST 
incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office (ATO). In these circumstances, the GST is 
recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of an item of expense. 

Receivables and payables in the statement of financial position are shown inclusive of GST. 

Cash flows are presented in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis, except for the GST components of 
investing and financing activities, which are disclosed as operating cash flows. 

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the 
ATO. 

c) Income tax 

RHL is exempt from income tax under Division 50 of the Income Tax Assessment Act 1997. 
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Note 1 Summary of Material Accounting Policies (cont.) 

d) Current and non-current classification

Assets and liabilities are presented in the statement of financial position based on current and non-current
classification.

An asset is classified as current when: it is either expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in
the company’s normal operating cycle; it is held primarily for the purpose of trading; it is expected to be realised
within 12 months after the reporting period; or the asset is cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being
exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period. All other assets are
classified as non-current.

A liability is classified as current when: it is either expected to be settled in the company’s normal operating cycle;
it is held primarily for the purpose of trading; it is due to be settled within 12 months after the reporting period; or
there is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period.
All other liabilities are classified as non-current.

e) Going concern

Notwithstanding RHL’s deficiency in net assets of $49,435, the financial report has been prepared on the going
concern basis. This basis has been adopted as RHL has received a guarantee of continuing financial support
from its parent entity, Rumbalara Aboriginal Co-Operative Ltd. RHL has also entered into a loan agreements with
Rumbalara Aboriginal Co-Operative Ltd to assist with cashflow in the start-up phase of the company. The terms
of the loan agreement will allow RHL to meet its liabilities and it is the belief of the directors that such financial
support will continue to be made available.

The company has also received its first payment of funding which is outlined in note 7.5 post balance date.

On this basis, the financial support from Rumbalara Aboriginal Co-Operative Ltd will enable RHL to settle its debts
as and when they fall due, the directors are of the opinion that the continued application of the going concern
principle is appropriate for the preparation of these financial statements.
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Note 2 The Cost of Delivering Our Services 

This section provides an account of the expenses incurred by RHL in providing key services. 

2.1: Breakdown of operating expenses 

2024 
$ 

Note 2.1: Breakdown of operating expenses 
Board/governance expenses 20,061 
Legal fees 29,374 
Total operating expenses 49,435 

Other operating expenses generally represent the day-to-day running costs incurred in normal operations and are 
recognised as incurred. 
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Note 3 Key Assets to Support Service Delivery 

RHL controls infrastructure that is utilised in fulfilling our objectives and conducting our activities. They represent the 
key resources to be utilised for delivery of those outputs. 

3.1: Property, plant and equipment 

  2024 
  $ 
Note 3.1: Property, plant and equipment   
Non-current   
Work in progress at cost  346,453 
Total property, plant and equipment  346,453 
   

Movements in carrying amounts 

Movement in the carrying amounts for each class of property, plant and equipment between the beginning and the 
end of the current financial period is set out below: 

 Work in 
progress Total 

 $ $ 
2024   
Balance at 12 July 2023 - - 
Additions 106,109 106,109 
Transfers from RAC 240,344 240,344 
Balance at 30 June 2024 346,453 346,453 
   

Property, plant and equipment recognition 

Each class of property, plant and equipment is carried at cost or fair value less, where applicable any accumulated 
depreciation and impairment. 

Class of fixed asset Method  
Work in progress Cost 

Work in progress is stated at historical cost. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the 
acquisition of the items. 

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when there is no future economic benefit 
to RHL. Gains and losses between the carrying amount and the disposal proceeds are taken to the net result.  

Impairment of assets 

At each reporting date, the company assesses the carrying values of its tangible assets to determine whether there 
is any indication that those assets have been impaired. The assessment will include considering external sources of 
information. If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount of the assets, being the higher of the asset's fair 
value less costs to sell and value in use, is compared to the asset's carrying value. Any excess of the asset's carrying 
value over its recoverable amount is expensed to the statement of comprehensive income. 

Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the company estimates the 
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. 
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Note 4 Other Assets and Liabilities   

This section sets out those assets that arose from RHL’s operations. 

4.1 : Other assets 

2024 
$ 

Note 4.1: Other assets 
Current 
Prepayments 5,500 
Total other assets 5,500 

Other assets recognition 

Other assets include prepayments which represent payments in advance of receipt of goods or services or that part 
of expenses made in one accounting period covering a term extending beyond that period. 

Note 5 How We Finance Our Operations   

This section provides information on the sources of finance utilised by RHL during its operations, along with other 
information related to financing activities of RHL.  

5.1: Borrowings 
5.2:  Commitments for expenditure 

Note 5.1: Borrowings 
Current 
Loan from Rumbalara Aboriginal Co-Operative Ltd 401,388 
Total borrowings 401,388 

Disclosures relating to borrowings are set out in note 7.2. 

Note 5.2: Commitments for expenditure 

a) Capital expenditure commitments
Capital expenditure commitments contracted:
Capital commitments 116,560 
Total capital commitments 116,560 

The commitments are expected to be incurred: 
Within 1 year 116,560 

Total 116,560 

Note 6: Contingent assets and contingent liabilities 

There are no known contingent assets or contingent liabilities for RHL as at 30 June 2024. 
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Note 7 Other Disclosures 

This section includes additional material disclosures required by accounting standards or otherwise, for the 
understanding of this financial report. 

7.1: Equity 
7.2: Related parties 
7.3: Key management personnel compensation 
7.4: Remuneration of auditors 
7.5: Matters subsequent to the end of the financial period 

2024 
$ 

Note 7.1: Equity  
Opening balance - 
(Deficit) after income tax expense for the period (49,435) 
Retained losses at the end of the financial period (49,435) 

Note 7.2: Related parties  

Key management personnel 

Disclosures relating to key management personnel are set out in note 7.3. 

Transactions with related parties 

Related parties consist of transactions with Rumbalara Aboriginal Co-Operative Ltd.  

During the financial period all costs incurred by RHL were funded via the loan agreement.  

There were no other material transactions with related parties during the current financial period. 

Receivable from and payable to related parties 

There were no trade receivables from or trade payables to related parties at the current reporting date. 

Loans to/from related parties 

There was a loan from Rumbalara Aboriginal Co-Operative Ltd at the current reporting date. Refer note 5.1 for further 
details.  

Note 7.3: Key management personnel compensation 

Any persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of RHL, directly 
or indirectly, is considered key management personnel.  

For RHL this includes directors. The executive management team of Rumbalara Aboriginal Co-operative Ltd 
remuneration is paid by the entity itself. While some benefit may be provided to RHL costs are not transferred to RHL 
at this point in time.   

The aggregate compensation made to key management personnel of RHL is set out below: 

Aggregate compensation 20,061 
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Note 7 Other Disclosures (cont.) 

Note 7.4: Remuneration of auditors 

During the financial period the following fees were paid or payable for services provided by RSM Australia Partners, 
the auditor of RHL: 

2024 
$ 

Audit services 
Audit of the financial statements 5,000 

Other services – RSM Australia 
Other accounting services 3,000 
Other 41 
Total remuneration of auditors 8,041 

Note 7.5: Matters subsequent to the end of the financial period 

The company received instalments of grant funding of $652,586 from Homes Victoria in August – September 2024 
towards the Social Housing Growth Fund.  

No other matter or circumstance has arisen since 30 June 2024 that has significantly affected, or may significantly 
affect RHL’s operations, the results of those operations, or RHL’s state of affairs in future financial years. 
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In the directors' opinion: 

 the attached financial statements and notes comply with the Australian Accounting Standards – Simplified
Disclosures issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board ('AASB') and the Australian Charities and Not-
for-profits Commission Act 2012 and associated regulations;

 the attached financial statements and notes give a true and fair view of the company’s financial position as at 30
June 2024 and of its performance for the financial period ended on that date; and

 there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become
due and payable.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of directors. 

On behalf of the directors 

Eric Egan Marie Barbance 
Chairperson Board member 

Dated this day of November 2024 7th
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT  
To the Members of Rumbalara Housing Limited 

 

 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial report of Rumbalara Housing Limited, which comprises the statement of financial 
position as at 30 June 2024, the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the statement of 
changes in equity and the statement of cash flows for the period then ended, and notes to the financial statements, 
including material accounting policy information, and the directors' declaration.  

In our opinion, the financial report of Rumbalara Housing Limited has been prepared in accordance with Division 60 
of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 (ACNC Act), including: 

(a) giving a true and fair view of the company’s financial position as at 30 June 2024 and of its financial performance 
and cash flows for the period then ended; and  

(b) complying with Australian Accounting Standards – Simplified Disclosures and Division 60 of the Australian 
Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Regulation 2022. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those standards 
are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section of our report. We 
are independent of Rumbalara Housing Limited in accordance with the ethical requirements of the Accounting 
Professional and Ethical Standards Board's APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code) that 
are relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with the Code.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Other Information  

Those charged with governance are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 
information included in Rumbalara Housing Limited's annual report for the year ended 30 June 2024, but does not 
include the financial report and the auditor's report thereon.  

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we do not express any form 
of assurance conclusion thereon.  

In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, 
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial report or our knowledge obtained 
in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, 
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.  

  

 
 

 

 

RSM Australia Partners is a member of the RSM network and trades as RSM.  RSM is the trading name used by the 
members of the RSM network.  Each member of the RSM network is an independent accounting and consulting firm 
which practices in its own right.  The RSM network is not itself a separate legal entity in any jurisdiction. 
RSM Australia Partners ABN 36 965 185 036 
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation 
 
 

 

RSM Australia Partners 

12 Anderson Street West, Ballarat VIC 3350 
PO Box 685 Ballarat VIC 3353 

T +61 (0) 3 5330 5800 
F +61 (0) 3 5330 5890 

www.rsm.com.au 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT  
To the Members of Rumbalara Housing Limited 

 

 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial report of Rumbalara Housing Limited, which comprises the statement of financial 
position as at 30 June 2024, the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the statement of 
changes in equity and the statement of cash flows for the period then ended, and notes to the financial statements, 
including material accounting policy information, and the directors' declaration.  

In our opinion, the financial report of Rumbalara Housing Limited has been prepared in accordance with Division 60 
of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 (ACNC Act), including: 

(a) giving a true and fair view of the company’s financial position as at 30 June 2024 and of its financial performance 
and cash flows for the period then ended; and  

(b) complying with Australian Accounting Standards – Simplified Disclosures and Division 60 of the Australian 
Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Regulation 2022. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those standards 
are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section of our report. We 
are independent of Rumbalara Housing Limited in accordance with the ethical requirements of the Accounting 
Professional and Ethical Standards Board's APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code) that 
are relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with the Code.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Other Information  

Those charged with governance are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 
information included in Rumbalara Housing Limited's annual report for the year ended 30 June 2024, but does not 
include the financial report and the auditor's report thereon.  

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we do not express any form 
of assurance conclusion thereon.  

In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, 
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial report or our knowledge obtained 
in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, 
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.  

  

 
 

 

 

RSM Australia Partners is a member of the RSM network and trades as RSM.  RSM is the trading name used by the 
members of the RSM network.  Each member of the RSM network is an independent accounting and consulting firm 
which practices in its own right.  The RSM network is not itself a separate legal entity in any jurisdiction. 
RSM Australia Partners ABN 36 965 185 036 
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation 
 
 

 

RSM Australia Partners 

12 Anderson Street West, Ballarat VIC 3350 
PO Box 685 Ballarat VIC 3353 

T +61 (0) 3 5330 5800 
F +61 (0) 3 5330 5890 

www.rsm.com.au 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT  
To the Members of Rumbalara Housing Limited 

 

 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial report of Rumbalara Housing Limited, which comprises the statement of financial 
position as at 30 June 2024, the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the statement of 
changes in equity and the statement of cash flows for the period then ended, and notes to the financial statements, 
including material accounting policy information, and the directors' declaration.  

In our opinion, the financial report of Rumbalara Housing Limited has been prepared in accordance with Division 60 
of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 (ACNC Act), including: 

(a) giving a true and fair view of the company’s financial position as at 30 June 2024 and of its financial performance 
and cash flows for the period then ended; and  

(b) complying with Australian Accounting Standards – Simplified Disclosures and Division 60 of the Australian 
Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Regulation 2022. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those standards 
are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section of our report. We 
are independent of Rumbalara Housing Limited in accordance with the ethical requirements of the Accounting 
Professional and Ethical Standards Board's APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code) that 
are relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with the Code.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Other Information  

Those charged with governance are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 
information included in Rumbalara Housing Limited's annual report for the year ended 30 June 2024, but does not 
include the financial report and the auditor's report thereon.  

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we do not express any form 
of assurance conclusion thereon.  

In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, 
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial report or our knowledge obtained 
in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, 
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.  

  

 
 

 

 

RSM Australia Partners is a member of the RSM network and trades as RSM.  RSM is the trading name used by the 
members of the RSM network.  Each member of the RSM network is an independent accounting and consulting firm 
which practices in its own right.  The RSM network is not itself a separate legal entity in any jurisdiction. 
RSM Australia Partners ABN 36 965 185 036 
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation 
 
 

 

RSM Australia Partners 

12 Anderson Street West, Ballarat VIC 3350 
PO Box 685 Ballarat VIC 3353 

T +61 (0) 3 5330 5800 
F +61 (0) 3 5330 5890 

www.rsm.com.au 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT  
To the Members of Rumbalara Housing Limited 

 

 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial report of Rumbalara Housing Limited, which comprises the statement of financial 
position as at 30 June 2024, the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the statement of 
changes in equity and the statement of cash flows for the period then ended, and notes to the financial statements, 
including material accounting policy information, and the directors' declaration.  

In our opinion, the financial report of Rumbalara Housing Limited has been prepared in accordance with Division 60 
of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 (ACNC Act), including: 

(a) giving a true and fair view of the company’s financial position as at 30 June 2024 and of its financial performance 
and cash flows for the period then ended; and  

(b) complying with Australian Accounting Standards – Simplified Disclosures and Division 60 of the Australian 
Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Regulation 2022. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those standards 
are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section of our report. We 
are independent of Rumbalara Housing Limited in accordance with the ethical requirements of the Accounting 
Professional and Ethical Standards Board's APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code) that 
are relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with the Code.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Other Information  

Those charged with governance are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 
information included in Rumbalara Housing Limited's annual report for the year ended 30 June 2024, but does not 
include the financial report and the auditor's report thereon.  

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we do not express any form 
of assurance conclusion thereon.  

In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, 
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Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Report 

The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view 
in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards – Simplified Disclosures and the ACNC Act, and for such internal 
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and 
fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing Rumbalara Housing Limited's ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern 
basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate Rumbalara Housing Limited or to cease 
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.  

The directors are responsible for overseeing the company’s financial reporting process. 

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the 
Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise 
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected 
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.  

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial report is located at the Auditing and Assurance 
Standards Board website at: http://www.auasb.gov.au/Home.aspx. This description forms part of our auditor's report. 

Independence  

We confirm that the independence declaration required by the ACNC Act, which has been given to the responsible 
entities of Rumbalara Housing Limited, would be in the same terms if given to the responsible entities as at the time 
of this auditor’s report. 

 

 
RSM AUSTRALIA PARTNERS 

 
JOHN FINDLAY 
Partner 

Ballarat, Victoria 
Dated this 7th day of November 2024 
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